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www.drrichardkaul.com 
 

March 3, 2022 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Neil Berkett 
Chairman 
Guardian Media Group 
Kings Place 
90 York Way 
London, N1 9GU 
United Kingdom 
 
Re: Notice of Litigation 
       The Kaul Cases 
 
Dear Mr. Berkett, 
 
I write this letter to provide fair notice of litigation to the Guardian Media Group, its owner 
Scott Trust Limited and the owner’s sole shareholder, Apax Partners, a private equity firm, that 
as you might be aware, and as is relevant to The Kaul Cases subject matter, invests in the 
insurance and healthcare industries. 
 
The thrust of the action pertains to a violation of the Racketeer and Influenced Corrupt Act 
(RICO), and the ongoing publication of knowingly false, illegally derived and highly defamatory 
material within an article written by Guardian journalist, Alex Hannaford (Exhibit 1).  
 
On March 3, 2022, Hannaford admitted, pursuant to Rule 36 of the Federal Rules of Civil 
Procedure, that in the production of the article, he committed wire fraud (Exhibit 2). This 
admission of fact has caused the article to become constituted as evidence of the felony of wire 
fraud, a RICO predicate act, the event of which further substantiates the “pattern of 
racketeering” as plausibly pled in The Kaul Cases, all of which can be found on www.pacer.gov. 
 
Detailed below, by reference to the relevant section of Hannaford’s article, are facts in support 
of the claims of wire fraud, defamation, slander and libel. 
 
Page 1 - Subheading:  
 
Hannaford: “He told his patients … guilty of manslaughter”. This is knowingly false, as 
evidenced by the attached affidavits from a physician and lawyer. Hannaford’s statement 
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constitutes circumstantial evidence of his conspiracy with The Kaul Cases Defendant/NJ deputy 
attorney general, Doreen Hafner to defame my character, in furtherance of The Kaul Cases 
Defendants decade-long-plus “racketeering” scheme to have me eliminated, as plausibly pled 
in Kaul v ICE: 21-CV-06992 (K11-7). Hannaford knew that in 2003, an American judge had 
rendered a scathing opinion about the injustice of the UK case, finding it had no equivalent in 
the US, and that if the Bangura events had occurred in the US, it would at most have been a 
medical malpractice case, if at all: “I have been in the criminal justice business as a prosecutor, 
defense counsel and judge since 1965 … and I have never seen a prosecution, much less a 
conviction, for the facts upon which this conviction was based. I have spoken to others in the 
field, and no one has ever heard of a criminal charge premised on these facts.” (January 2, 
2003: Expert report Judge Barnert E. Hoffman) (Exhibit 3). Hannaford knowingly omitted this 
from his article, along with the fact that at the conclusion of the case on February 22, 2001, I 
walked out of court a free man. 
 
“… he was interviewed by the credentials committee, during which he discussed the events 
surrounding the UK case …  Dr. Kaul explained the political backdrop of the case in the UK and 
told me about his challenge in February 1999 to the Royal College of Anesthetists and the 
British Government to have his American training recognized in the UK.” (June 30, 2021: 
Letter from Dr. David Basch to NYS Medical Board) (Exhibit 3). 
 
“Having interacted with Dr. Kaul at professional and personal levels of affair, I came to know 
the accounts of his professional history in the UK and US … the UK case has been examined, 
re-examined and legally dissected by American judges, lawyers, politicians and physicians …” 
(May 7, 2021: Letter from David Detoffol, Esq to NYS Medical Board) (Exhibit 3). 
 
Page 1 - Paragraph 1: 
 
Hannaford: “By 2012, he owned a $2m home in New Jersey, a Manhattan penthouse and an 
$8.3m brownstone on New York’s Upper West Side, which boasted a soundproof media room 
and nine fireplaces.” This is false. 
 
The house never had a “media room” and I never owned a “Manhattan penthouse”, but the 
gratuitous publicity surrounding a physician’s material possessions is a typical tactic of The Kaul 
Cases Defendants, Allstate/Geico/State of NJ, designed to create public antipathy towards the 
physician in the false narrative of ‘the bad rich doctor’ and ‘the poor helpless patient’. Of 
course, these types of articles never mention, for example, that the ex-CEO of Defendant 
Allstate, Richard Crist, lives in a palatial mansion and received a salary in 2017 of at least $10 
million, without ever having set foot in a medical school and attending a C rate college. It is 
American insurance company executives whose greed is obscene and who do nothing except 
‘push paper’, but Hannaford did not write about this, and was more interested in fireplaces and 
fictitious media rooms.  
 
Page 1 - Paragraph 2: 
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“Kaul’s website attributed his success to his brilliance as a surgeon.” This is false. There was 
no such claim on the website, which is why Hannaford’s statement is unsubstantiated. But even 
if there were such a claim, it would be consistent with the fact that a physician becomes 
successful not because he is bad, but precisely because he is good, and particularly so in private 
versus academic practice. This is common sense, but sense not applied in corrupted journalism, 
and evidently not by Hannaford. 
 
Page 1 to 2 - Paragraphs 3 to 8: 
 
Hannaford: “Kaul told him he would perform minimally invasive spine surgery … And I said 
no, no, no. No, you’re not touching me.” This is false. Jarrell never made such a comment to 
Kaul, which is why Hannaford’s claim is without evidential support. As the November 7, 2005, 
patient note proves, Jarrell improved and returned to work after I had operated on him, a fact 
that Hannaford omitted from his article. 
 
The fraudulence of the Jarrell case and Hannaford’s reporting are evidenced in a lawsuit filed by 
Kaul against the Jarrells on June 4, 2017: On May 2, 2013, Jarrell perjured himself … Jarrell lied 
under oath, in the belief that a revocation of Kaul’s license would result in further economic 
enrichment. Jarrell lies were further facilitated on May 2, 2013, by Solomon and Hafner … 
Jarrell perjured himself four (4) days before the truth was extracted from Przybylski.” (Exhibit 
4) and in the November 7, 2005, clinical note: “The patient is doing very well postoperatively. 
He is back to work. Will continue the home exercise program. A recent x-ray indicated good 
fusion placement and screw placement. He will return in 4 weeks.” (Exhibit 5). 
 
Page 2 - Paragraphs 9 to 11: 
 
Hannaford: “But it transpired that Jarrell wasn’t alone; he was one of 11 patients who claim 
to have been left injured after being operated on by Kaul. One, Patricia Maze, accused him … 
banned from practicing medicine in Britain … I wanted to know what Kaul was doing now. 
Was he remorseful? Did he accept the court and medical board’s findings- and would he talk 
to me? This is false and intentionally inaccurate reporting of the June 2014 interview with 
Hannaford: 
 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=lbX2vIqVP1g&t=355s 
 
See time segments 1:12:00, in which I provided Hannaford facts as to the superior outcomes 
and low complication rates of my practice, facts omitted by Hannaford with fraudulent intent. 
Posted on www.drrichardkaul.com under tab PATIENTS, are laudatory letters from patients in 
the UK and US, none of which were quoted by Hannaford. One such quote is: 
 
“I owe my life to Dr. Kaul … My experience with this doctor has been very positive, he was 
caring, considerate and competent. If it had not been for his rapid response I would probably 
not be here today.” (November 10th 2000 – Patient Caroline Ford). 
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Hannaford wrote nothing about the thousands of patients in the UK and US, whose lives I had 
saved and changed for the better, during my medical career (1988 to 2012). And he wrote 
nothing about the many British and American physicians whose letters of recommendation 
evidence a high regard of my character and competence. 
 
The average patient outcomes in spinal surgery are 65-70% good to very good, while my rate 
was 90-95%. The average complication rate is 5-15%, while mine was 0.1%. My outcomes and 
complications were analyzed on in April 2012 by neurosurgeon, Dr. F. Richard Jordan, who, in 
his report, states: “His outcomes are rather good.”, a finding echoed by numerous other 
physicians (Exhibit 6). 
 
Patricia Maze, as with all the 11 patients, signed a consent form and improved after surgery: 
“The patient was examined twice before discharge, and was seen to be ambulating without 
assistance and had voided successfully. In addition, the patient has drunk, eaten and had 
stable vital signs.” (Exhibit 7). Maze’s fraud, as with that of other fraudulent malpractice 
claims, was placed before the United States District Court in Kaul v Murphy: 21-CV-00439 (K11-
4): “Fraudulent medical malpractice claims … In a period from at least 2009 to 2018, multiple 
lawsuits were filed against Kaul for alleged medical malpractice. The clinical notes in all of 
these cases evidence that there had been no malpractice, as in over ninety percent (90%) of 
these cases, the patients’ pain/disability improved, and in the remaining ten percent (10%) it 
remained the same … A percentage of these monies constituted kickbacks to Defendant 
Christie and his political campaigns for the offices of the 2013 NJ Governor/2016 Republican 
Presidential nomination.” (Exhibit 8). 
 
Out of the eight hundred (800) patients upon whom I had operated (2003 to 2012), the five (5) 
that testified against me were encouraged to do so by NJ deputy attorney general/The Kaul 
Cases Defendant, Doreen Hafner, with the promise that if my license was revoked, they would 
make millions from a lawsuit: “I believe that Hafner lied to me about Dr. Kaul, and about 
wanting to help me with my lawsuit, to make sure I testified against Dr. Kaul. She told me 
that if I testified against Dr. Kaul, it would help me with my lawsuit, “especially if Dr. Kaul had 
been stripped of his license to practice medicine.” (Exhibit 9). 
 
Hannaford’s insertion of “Was he remorseful?” evidences his grossly prejudicial state-of-mind, 
and clear intent to write a defamatory online article that was purposed to and has perpetuated 
the damage to my reputation, intended and caused by the crimes of The Kaul Cases 
Defendants. It also further evidences an illegal conspiracy conducted between Hannaford and 
The Kaul Cases Defendant, Doreen Hafner, a conspiracy that Hannaford has admitted was 
conducted across the US wires. It is the policy of NJ state actors involved in “racketeering” 
schemes against physician victims, to despite the physician’s innocence, have them express 
remorse as a condition of having their license reinstated, in order to prohibit future legal action 
by the physician, while legitimizing state-orchestrated crimes and causing further 
humiliation/punishment to the innocent physician victim.  Most, if not all physicians capitulate 
out of desperation, but I did not, because as is now evident in The Kaul Cases, I was right, and 



 5 

they were wrong. Hannaford knew I was right, but omitted it with fraudulent intent, consistent 
with his conspiracy with Hafner. 
 
There would of course have been no reason for me to be “remorseful” and or “accept the 
court and medical board’s findings” as I had done nothing wrong. The guilt lay with The Kaul 
Cases Defendants, who had perpetrated a prolonged “pattern of racketeering” against me and 
egregiously violated my human/constitutional rights, culminating in me being kidnapped on 
May 27, 2021, as factually pled in K11-7 as the ‘Kaul Kidnapping Scheme’. In fact, my refusal to 
attend the medical board hearing on February 14, 2014, further evidences the fact that I was 
right, and they were wrong: “I consider all actions taken against my license since June 2012 to 
be illegal and will pursue all options to remedy the damage caused to my reputation and 
estate.” (Exhibit 12). I provided these facts to Hannaford during the June 2014 interview, but 
their omission from the article is consistent with its defamatory purpose. 
 
Hannaford’s insertion of these phrases, ones typically propagated by individuals such as Doreen 
Hafner, further evidence the conspiracy to defame and slander my name, as stated in 2010 by 
The Kaul Cases Defendant, Andrew Kaufman: “… he [Kaufman] and a group of five doctors had 
been working together since at least 2011, to make sure Dr. Kaul’s medical license was 
revoked. He mentioned that they were going to have articles and stories published, that 
caused permanent damage to Dr. Kaul’s reputation, so that he would never be able to find 
work.” (Exhibit 9). Hannaford, through his communications with Hafner and others had and has 
information about the conspiracy pled in The Kaul Cases, but omitted these facts from the 
article, in keeping with its fraudulent intent. Hafner’s knowingly fraudulent information 
poisoned Hannaford’s complicit mind, the Guardian article, the US wires and the internet. 
 
Page 3/8 – Paragraph 3: 
 
Hannaford: “… Kaul had asked her to switch off an alarm monitoring Bangura’s blood 
pressure and oxygen level because the noise annoyed him … talking on his phone …” This is a 
false and purposefully misleading account of the events of March 9, 1999. 
 
The instruction I provided the assistant, as the court record proved, was not to silence the 
alarm or monitor, but to stop the intermittent beeping that occurred when the patient moved 
her hand on which the oxygen monitor was placed. She did because she felt pain as the dentist 
injected her gums and then commenced the procedure. Neither the oxygen or blood pressure 
alarm and monitor were silenced or turned off, and the monitor’s screen continued to display 
her oxygen level, heart rate and ECG. This point was never contested by the prosecution or 
found to be relevant by the judge. There is nothing in the court record that supports 
Hannaford’s false statement regarding alleged noise annoyance, a statement that as with the 
others, is purposed to defame my competence and character. 
 
With regard to the phone, it was established by a telecommunications engineer and admitted 
by the prosecution, that I did not use one in a time period from 15:01 to 17:06 on March 9, 
1999: “I have examined certain call detail records drawn from archived data relating to 
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mobile ‘phones on the One 2 One Network on Tuesday March 9th 1999. I can confidently state 
that the One 2 One mobile ‘phone number 0958-648599 was not used either to make calls or 
to receive calls between 15:01 and 17:06 on that day.” (Exhibit 10).  Hannaford was informed 
of this critical fact during the June 2014 interview (time segment 38:05) but omitted it from his 
article, as he knew this was the entire basis of the prosecution’s case, and to report it would 
have undermined the so called ‘manslaughter conviction’ and Hafner’s scheme to have me 
eliminated, as pled in Kaul v Intercontinental Exchange: 21-CV-06992 (K11-7). 
 
Hafner lied to many of my patients regarding the details of the UK case (Exhibit 9) and 
conspired with Hannaford, as she did with The Kaul Cases Defendant and journalist, Lindy 
Washburn, to have published articles that contained knowingly fraudulent information, that 
Hannaford/Hafner/Washburn disseminated across the US wires, in Hannaford’s March 3, 2022 
admitted commission of wire fraud. Hafner believed her crimes would go undetected, as she 
expected, as did all The Kaul Cases Defendants, that I would “pack my bags and leave”, and 
that the public would continue to believe that the illegal NJ license suspension/revocation (April 
2012/March 2014) was legitimate. 
 
Page 3/8 – Paragraph 4: 
 
Hannaford: “Kaul failed to call an ambulance for 30 minutes after Bangura stopped breathing, 
… and refused to accompany her to the hospital.” This is false.  
 
The legal record proves that as soon as I had diagnosed a cardiac arrest, I gave an order to call 
an ambulance, while I commenced resuscitation. The ambulance arrived shortly thereafter, and 
it was the paramedics who told me they did not need me to accompany them, as I was about to 
get into the back of the ambulance. Mrs. Bangura remained in the ambulance for over an hour 
because no NHS beds were available. This critical fact of gross underfunding of the National 
Health Service, was a fact that Hannaford knew, but one he omitted from the article. This was 
consistent with both his and Hafner’s intent of distorting the ‘picture’ to defame my character, 
as part of The Kaul Cases Defendant, Andrew Kaufman’s admitted scheme, and Hafner’s 
sinister obsession with the 1999 UK case. Hafner’s malfeasance extended to the fraudulent 
coopting of the Office of the New Jersey Attorney General, which she converted into a 
“racketeering enterprise” with the propagation of lies about the case: “She [Hafner] told me 
that Dr. Kaul fled the country before the authorities had completed their investigation and 
had been a fugitive.” (Exhibit 9). Hafner’s purpose in defaming my character to my patients, 
was to manipulate them into testifying against me, and Hannaford’s fraudulent article 
continues to perpetuate her illegal scheme, ‘The Hannaford-Hafner Scheme’, so that I “would 
never be able to find work” (Exhibit 9). 
 
Mrs. Bangura’s heart arrested because her pre-existing blood potassium was 2.3 mmol/L the 
normal range being 3.5 to 5.2, and because of chronic National Health Service underfunding, no 
pre-procedure blood screening was available, and thus I could not have known. I told 
Hannaford this during the June 2014 interview, but these facts, relevant to the telling of an 
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honest and uncorrupted story, were omitted from the article. The mechanism of a hypokalemic 
arrest was provided by Oxford University emeritus professor, John Leadingham (Exhibit 11). 
 
Page 4 – Paragraph 2: 
 
Hannaford: “…In fact, the first time he ever inserted a pedicle screw on a live patient was at a 
surgery center when he was on his own. There was no one to monitor the surgery or asses his 
skill level.” This is false. The case was competently performed with a full surgical team, as 
evident from the below video, the patient successfully recovered and no so called “monitor” 
was required by the surgical facility’s credentialling committee in which I performed the 
procedure. 
 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=JX4bnRPPucI&t=48s 
 
Page 4 – Paragraph 3: 
 
Hannaford: “For claiming he was a minimally invasive spine specialist … the state’s expenses 
of $174,000.” This paragraph uses the US wires to republish the fraud committed against me by 
The Kaul Cases Defendants. I informed Hannaford of the fraud of the licensing proceeding 
during the June 2014 interview (time segment 1:10:07) but he omitted these facts from his 
article, in keeping with his intent of furthering the false narrative of The Kaul Cases Defendants. 
For example, I told Hannaford I had medical malpractice insurance and that this fact was 
presented in the hearing, but he falsely states: “He failed to maintain medical malpractice 
insurance.” This fraudulent comment further evidences the conspiracy that converted the 
Guardian into a “racketeering enterprise”, through which the RICO predicate act of wire fraud 
continues to be committed, in a knowingly “open-ended ongoing pattern of racketeering”, the 
purpose and effect of which has been to cause ongoing injury to my reputation. From 
approximately 2016 onwards, every piece of evidence I have filed in The Kaul Cases, has been 
emailed to Hannaford, who despite being in possession of this incriminating evidence, has 
failed to retract or amend his knowingly false article.  
 
Page 7 – Paragraph 2: 
 
Hannaford: “Kaul’s answers seem self-serving, unremorseful, or both. I wonder if his 
unwillingness to admit he was wrong, and his subsequent PR campaign and book are the 
hallmarks of a narcissist.” Hannaford’s false reasoning that because I refused to accept the 
legality of the license revocation, that I was a “narcissist”, instead of concluding, as would have 
an honest journalist, that maybe I was fighting for my rights against a massive injustice. This 
comment constitutes even further evidence of the conspiracy to continue the defamation of my 
character, in order to have me, as pled in K11-7, eliminated and thus unable to expose the 
crimes of The Kaul Cases Defendants, an exposition that I have achieved. 
 
A copy of K11-7 is published to the home page of www.drrichardkaul.com 
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Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
 
 
______________________ 
RICHARD ARJUN KAUL, MD 
 
cc: All Counsel of record in The Kaul Cases 
       Mitchell Truwit, Co-CEO Apax Partners 
       Andrew Sillitoe Co-CEO Apax Partners 
       David Pemsel, Scott Trust Limited 
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Doctors
Trust me, I'm a doctor: the case of the rogue spinal
surgeon
He told his patients he was a spine surgery specialist. What he
didn’t tell them was that he’d been found guilty of
manslaughter. We go in search of the real Richard Kaul

Alex Hannaford
Sat 1 Nov 2014 03.00 EDT

I t didn’t take long for Richard Kaul’s spine surgery practice in the middle-class
New Jersey suburb of Pompton Lakes to turn a profit. The Indian-born, British-
raised doctor had been performing procedures in small surgeries for a number of
years before he opened his own place in 2011. By 2012, he owned a $2m home in

New Jersey, a Manhattan penthouse and an $8.3m brownstone on New York’s Upper
West Side, which boasted a soundproof media room, three terraces and nine fireplaces.

Kaul’s website attributed his success to his brilliance as a surgeon. He had, it said, “long
been lauded as a pioneer in minimally invasive spine surgery” and had “performed the
first outpatient spinal fusion in New Jersey”. His medical training was “as extensive as
it is impressive”: he had graduated from the Royal Free Hospital School of Medicine in
London in 1988 and trained in both the UK and US.

It was armed with this information, and desperate for help, that James Jarrell first
visited Kaul. He had experienced sporadic back pain for more than 20 years – half his
working life had been spent in the drilling and blasting industry. For a year, he’d
received cortisone shots, spinal manipulation and anaesthesia from a chiropractor, but
eventually, on 5 September 2005, he was referred to Kaul.

Kaul told him he would perform minimally invasive spinal surgery – he’d “make a cut
down in the side and… put two very small holes where they can work through some
tubes,” Jarrell later recalled in court – and that he’d be back at work within two weeks.

https://www.theguardian.com/society/doctors
https://www.theguardian.com/profile/alexhannaford
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Kaul performed a discogram, injecting dye into the spinal discs to pinpoint the cause of
the pain; a discectomy, removing disc material that was pressing on the nerves or
spinal cord; a lumbar interbody fusion, in which two mesh cages were implanted
between the spinal discs; and the insertion of pedicle screws – bone screws used to
secure rods and plates to support the spine. When he awoke in the recovery room,
Jarrell’s right side felt better, but his left side was in agony: “I remember touching and
complaining about my left leg which had never bothered me before.” He had difficulty
moving it, and walking on it hurt.

When he got the x-rays back, Jarrell was told to return to the doctor immediately.
“They would not tell me what was wrong. I remember thinking, am I crippled? I was
very upset. I was scared.” Jarrell went back to see Kaul. “He just flipped the x-rays up to
the light and said, ‘Oh, we can fix this: I just go up in there and scrape a little stuff out,
and you’ll be fine.’ And I said no, no, no. No, you’re not touching me.”

A different doctor prescribed oxycodone and fentanyl patches for the pain. Jarrell was
forced to wear a back and foot brace, but by March 2007 the pain was worsening and he
developed depression. He sought treatment from a neurosurgeon who found that the
implant material Kaul had installed was pinching a nerve; he also thought the screws
had been misplaced. Jarrell underwent further surgery, after which he said he felt
much better, but his ability to walk had been impaired.

Jarrell sued Kaul and his practice for medical malpractice – his wife Sheila claimed she
had lost her husband’s “companionship, consortium and services”, while Jarrell
claimed he was left unable to walk properly or work because of the pain. The jury
found that Kaul had deviated from the applicable standard of care and awarded Jarrell
$500,000 for “pain, suffering, disability and the loss of the enjoyment of life” and
$187,890 for medical expenses; Sheila got $250,000.

But it transpired that Jarrell wasn’t alone: he was one of 11 patients who claim to have
been left injured after being operated on by Kaul. One, Patricia Maze, accused him of
leaving her disabled after surgery on her lower back in 2008. Her attorney said Kaul
attempted to perform a spinal fusion and that the result was permanent damage to her
spine, which left her wheelchair-bound and in a “living hell”. Kaul settled with Maze in
March for a reported $450,000, just before her case went to trial.

Kaul was found to have been grossly negligent and incompetent in those 11 cases; it
also turned out that he wasn’t a qualified spine surgeon at all – he was a doctor, yes, but
an anaesthetist. Worse than that, he had a conviction for manslaughter in the UK. In
2001, a dental patient Kaul had anaesthetised died during routine treatment, and Kaul
received a suspended prison sentence. He had neglected to tell the New Jersey medical
board this – something he was required to do when he renewed his licence there,
having been banned from practising medicine in Britain.

I wanted to know what Kaul was doing now. Was he remorseful? Did he accept the
court and medical board’s findings – and would he talk to me?

orn in Hyderabad in southern India, Richard Kaul moved to the UK when he
was two and the family settled in Kent. He graduated from London’s Royal
Free hospital in 1988 and worked there and at the Lister hospital in Chelsea,
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Isatu Bangura
died after a tooth
extraction.
Photograph: Rex

before moving to the US in the 90s. After a handful of surgical internships in New York,
Kaul began a three-year fellowship in anaesthesia in New Jersey, and was board
certified by the American Medical Association in 1996. Visa restrictions meant he had
to return to the UK for two years, where he undertook a one-year fellowship in pain
management at the Bristol Royal Infirmary. He applied to the Royal College of Surgeons
to get his American certification recognised in Britain, but it ruled that he would have
to train for a further 18 months in a British hospital – a decision Kaul challenged but
one that was upheld on appeal. Instead, with financial help from his brother, he
purchased a dental clinic in Dalston, east London.

In March 1999, Isatu Bangura, 56, came in for a routine tooth
extraction and two fillings, but the mother of six was anxious and
asked for a general anaesthetic. Kaul gave her the sedative midazolam
and the analgesic fentanyl. When the dentist began, Kaul later
recalled, it became evident Bangura could still feel pain, so he gave
her a dose of the barbiturate methohexital.

What happened next formed the basis of a court case at the Old Bailey
in which Kaul answered a charge of manslaughter: Bangura’s heart
stopped during the dental procedure and she died six days later. The
court heard that a receptionist had acted as an unqualified dental

nurse; she testified that Kaul had asked her to switch off an alarm monitoring Bangura’s
blood pressure and oxygen level because the noise annoyed him. She also said he was
looking out of the window and talking on his phone when she noticed Bangura wasn’t
breathing – claims Kaul denied.

William Boyce, prosecuting, said Kaul used “back door” methods not approved by the
General Dental Council; that he administered anaesthetic too quickly or in too great a
quantity. Kaul failed to call an ambulance for 30 minutes after Bangura stopped
breathing, Boyce said, and refused to accompany her to hospital. In an 11-1 majority
verdict, Kaul was found guilty and given a six-month suspended prison sentence.

But Kaul still had his US anaesthesia accreditation and had no intention of quitting. He
sent off an application form to renew his medical licence, on which he was asked if he’d
ever been charged with a crime, or if his licence had ever been suspended. Kaul ticked
no to both – a move he would later say he made because he believed it referred to
crimes in the US, not the UK.

It would be another year before the General Medical Council struck Kaul off its register,
so for the time being he was still licensed to practise in the UK. He embarked on a
business venture with his brother, Peter, taking telephone consultations from patients
experiencing impotence issues and dispensing Viagra – then a new “wonder drug”.

When Kaul moved back to the US in September 2001, Peter, who was not a doctor,
continued to operate the business. Shortly after, officers from the Medicines and
Healthcare Products Regulatory Agency – the body responsible for ensuring the safety
of medicines in the UK – raided the company’s offices and seized their computers. In
New York, Kaul was visited by agents from the US Drug Enforcement Administration
and later received a summons to appear at court in London; but he told his brother that
unless they extradited him, he was not returning. Peter was fined £200,000. Kaul
claims he paid most of that sum himself – but that when the final court date arrived,
the judge sent his brother to prison for a year – the amount hadn’t been paid in full.

http://www.mhra.gov.uk/#page=DynamicListMedicines
http://www.justice.gov/dea/index.shtml
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Richard Kaul leaving the General Medical Council in London in January 2002 after being struck off its
register. Photograph: Rex

News of Kaul’s conviction for manslaughter and of the GMC hearing finally crossed the
pond, and in 2002 he was told the New Jersey medical board intended to revoke his
licence. It took a year for his licence hearing to come to court. Kaul argued that if
Bangura’s death had happened in the US, it would have resulted in a malpractice suit,
not a charge of manslaughter. But the board fined him $10,000 and suspended his
licence for six months.

Kaul later wrote that he wanted to use this time to acquire skills in minimally invasive
spine surgery which he could see was a developing field. He travelled to South Korea to
attend a two-week spine surgery course. When he returned to New York, with his
medical licence reinstated, he worked in pain management treatment centres and
began performing spinal surgery on patients. Maze and Jarrell were among 11 whose
testimony was taken into consideration by the New Jersey state attorney general after a
complaint was filed with the board of medical examiners. Their findings were damning.
Kaul had performed spine surgeries for which he was not qualified, the report said:
“There was nothing in his education or training that provided him with the experience
necessary to perform spinal surgeries. In fact, the first time he ever inserted a pedicle
screw on a live patient was at a surgery centre when he was on his own. There was no
one to monitor the surgery or assess his skill level.”

For claiming he was a minimally invasive spine specialist, and telling patients he had
the skills to perform those surgeries, the report said he “engaged in dishonesty, fraud,
deception [and] misrepresentation”. He also failed to maintain medical malpractice
insurance. In March this year, the board revoked Kaul’s licence and fined him
$300,000, ordering him to pay the state’s expenses of $174,000.

But Kaul refused to accept this. He launched an audacious PR campaign, including a
billboard in Times Square and a YouTube channel – the first video, entitled Exposing
Lies, dealt with what he said was the inaccuracy of press coverage he had received. He
set up a Facebook page, on which he posted videos of patients claiming he’d been
unfairly treated, and issued press releases on behalf of the Society for Advanced Spine
Intervention, an organisation he had started.
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S o who exactly is Richard Kaul? One clue is his ghostwritten autobiography,
self-published earlier this year, called Arjun Rising. The book begins with a
potted history of India’s struggle for independence, into which Kaul weaves
his family history. He says he feels “spiritually connected” to an Indian prince

called Arjuna, who features in some ancient Sanskrit texts and from whom Kaul gets
his middle name. It’s a curious mix of self-aggrandisement and bizarre confessions:
“Every year, up until 18, I ranked number one academically and I constantly won the
award for best sportsman of the year”; “Once [as a toddler] when I was trying to make a
statement, I took my nappy off and released my entire bowel in the middle of the living
room floor.”

Then there are lengthy sections that deal, in graphic detail, with Kaul’s sexual exploits.
There’s the tally he kept at medical school “to see how many nurses we could have sex
with over the years” and the time he “met this stunning girl from Athens and had great
raw sex with her”. He also writes of his mother’s death from lung and skin cancer at the
age of 43, how this affected him, and how he became addicted to recreational and
prescription drugs, and spent periods in rehab. One line stayed with me: “The internal
makeup of doctors is generally described as egocentric… [there’s] a cliff of
expectations, ambitions and goals that they’re invincible and they will save the world.”

Although he responds to my email fairly quickly, Kaul says he’s going to be out of the
country, and we don’t meet until two months later. His office is on the ground floor of a
nondescript building in a New Jersey suburb. He greets me at the door, smiling,
wearing a black V-neck sweater and glasses. The office space he rents is empty save for
some cardboard boxes and piles of paperwork: Kaul says that because he can no longer
practise medicine, he’s not renewing the lease.

We sit in an empty boardroom at a large wooden table. Kaul is disarmingly polite as he
leads me through what he sees as the saga of his life. His girlfriend sits with us
throughout. It all began, he says, with the death of Isatu Bangura. He insists his former
receptionist was lying about him being on his mobile phone while Bangura stopped
breathing in the dentist’s chair. “Having experienced the loss of my mother, I
understood very well what her family were going through and at the end of the trial. I
wanted to apologise to them. But they weren’t ready to accept the apology.” Has he
apologised to them since? “No, I haven’t. And that’s something that has always stuck
with me.”

http://www.amazon.co.uk/Arjun-Rising-Angelique-Papadelias/dp/0578120860
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‘When they first started this nonsense, if I had packed my bags and run away, that would have communicated
to people that I was trying to hide something.’ Photograph: 2014 Amy Newman/northjersey.com

Kaul insists he was trained sufficiently to carry out the spinal procedures, and that they
formed part of his anaesthesia training. “I have done thousands of cases,” he says, “and
the evolution from interventional pain management into minimally invasive spine
surgery is a very logical, natural one.”

He says there is no recognised fellowship in minimally invasive spine surgery. “So
when a doctor wants to get training, he goes and undertakes the same types of courses
I had undertaken since 2002. There were no standards; there wasn’t one specific
qualification or programme, and there still isn’t.” He says he performed “800 of these
minimally invasive spinal procedures” and that out of those, only 11 people
complained.

(Later on, I speak to Dr Russell Nelson, founder and medical director of the Nelson
Spine Institute in California and a spine surgeon for 30 years. Nelson tells me that
someone trained in anaesthesia is not trained in spinal anatomy. There are two ways to
become a spine surgeon in the US: you either train in orthopaedics or neurosurgery –
both of which would usually be followed by a year-long spine fellowship taught by
expert physicians. Doctors would then have to keep up with the latest developments
via courses throughout their careers.)

But Kaul believes New Jersey governor Chris Christie was given money by a small
group of surgeons in return for asking the state’s medical board to take action against
him, because he was operating on their turf. He insists he’s the victim of a “corrupt
system” – that powerful interests came after him because “I was building a successful
practice and moving medicine forward in a way that entrenched interests didn’t want.”

Kaul tells me that patients found out about him on the internet because of the press the
Bangura case received, and brought it up during their consultations with him. It got to
the point, he says, that he couldn’t ignore it, so he came up with the idea for the
autobiography to “set the record straight. I still feel I did nothing wrong. You know,
when they first started this nonsense, if I had packed my bags and run away, I think

http://www.nelsonspineinstitute.com/
http://www.state.nj.us/governor/
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that would have communicated to people that I was trying to hide something; that I
was guilty of something. But that’s not the case.”

While he is candid and friendly during our meeting, Kaul’s answers seem self-serving,
unremorseful, or both. I wonder if his unwillingness to admit he was wrong and his
subsequent PR campaign and book are the hallmarks of a narcissist.“Yeah, there will be
people who’ll say that,” he says. “But I don’t think so. I did a lot of charity work here
and treated a lot of patients who had no medical insurance, and I did that for free. I
took my own money and used that to set up the Spine Africa Project, to do something
positive where people had no healthcare.” Kaul set up his charity in 2008 to offer
treatment to people across the continent suffering from degenerative spine injuries and
deformities. Now that he’s closing his private practice in New Jersey, he says, he’ll
channel all his efforts into that.

On the Spine Africa website, the charity promises to train local doctors, improve
facilities and raise awareness; it will also be treating people afflicted with spinal
conditions. There’s a video documentary, too, that shows Kaul visiting the Panzi
hospital in the Democratic Republic of the Congo in 2011. He meets the hospital’s
director and various patients. At the end, accompanied by uplifting music, Kaul
operates on a boy with a spinal condition. “We’re all very excited for him,” he says as he
removes the dressing covering the boy’s back. “He seems to be making progress in the
right direction here.”

on

Single Monthly Annual

$7 per month $15 per month Other

http://www.spineafricaproject.org/
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Zu50ik2l2Sc
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Richard Kaul <drrichardkaul@gmail.com>

Kaul v ICE: 21-CV-06992 - K11-7

1 message

Richard Kaul <drrichardkaul@gmail.com> Thu, Feb 24, 2022 at 4:55 PM
To: Alex Hannaford <alex@nofiction.co.uk>
Cc: Walter Eisner <robinyoung@ryortho.com>, jon.swaine@gmail.com

Alex,

In your November 1, 2014 story (https://www.theguardian.com/society/2014/nov/01/uk-anaesthetist-practised-as-us-
spinal-surgeon) published in the Guardian, you state, amongst other things:

"But Kaul refused to accept this [revocation]. He launched an audacious PR campaign, including a billboard in
Times Square and a YouTube channel - the first video, entitled Exposing Lies ..."

The exposition of the lies pertained principally to fraudulent claims by patients seeking to profit from the publicity
surrounding the suspension/revocation.

Please find below a link to a video of patient Marietta Ernst, who improved after surgery I performed on her spine in 2010,
but then sued me in August 2012, four months after the widely publicized suspension of my license. She and her lawyer
defrauded my malpractice carrier out of almost $1,000,000:

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=PB254LvG6HM&t=4s


The defrauded carriers are in possession of this and other evidence related to Defendant Christie's "racketeering"
schemes.

Multiple sections of your article evidence an exchange of knowingly fraudulent information between yourself and certain
Defendants identified within The Kaul Cases. My questions to you are:

1. Were the exchanges of this fraudulent information conducted using the US wires?

2. Did the exchanges involve The Kaul Cases Defendant, Doreen Hafner, a New Jersey deputy attorney general?

If I receive no response by 5pm EST on March 3, 2022, I will conclude the answers are in the affirmative. 

Regards,

Richard Arjun Kaul, MD

www.drrichardkaul.com

            


120803-Ernst v Kaul-Complaint.pdf

664K

https://www.theguardian.com/society/2014/nov/01/uk-anaesthetist-practised-as-us-spinal-surgeon
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=PB254LvG6HM&t=4s
http://www.drrichardkaul.com/
http://www.linkedin.com/in/richardkaul
https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ui=2&ik=4ff17f47e0&view=att&th=17f2dbb76ca86e7e&attid=0.1&disp=attd&realattid=f_l01ik7x80&safe=1&zw
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In the Matter of Richard Kaul, M.D. 

I, Barnett E. Hoffman hereby certify: 

I .  I have been asked by counsel representing Richard Kaul, M.D. to offer an opinion as 

to whether the criminal conviction of Dr. Kaul in England would be valid in New Jersey. 

2. I have been involved in the criminal system as a prosecutor, defense counsel and 

judge since 1965 (except for two years in the m y ) .  I recently retired from the New Jersey Superior 

Court as Presiding Judge, Criminal Part, Middlesex County. In over 35 years, I have never seen a 

prosecution in New Jersey, much less a conviction, for the facts upon which the conviction of Dr. 

Richard Kaul was based. I have spoken to others in the field and no one has ever heard of criminal 

charges premised on these facts. 

3. I have had an opportunity to review portions of the record. I specifically, have read 

that part of the record furnished to me relating to the British court's charge to the jury. The chargd 

provided by the English judge to the jury would have been fundamentally and fatally flawed in the 

State of New Jersey. The judge failed to provide the basic, critical charge addressing the 

requirements of (1) a unanimous verdict and (2) based on proof beyond a reasonable doubt. These 

requirements are inextricably interwoven into our system of justice and failure to properly charge 

these alone would result in a reversal if the matter were heard in this state. To rely upon this verdict 

as any predicate whatsoever is inconsistent with not only with our Constitution, or system ofjustice, 

but our basic notion of fundamental fairness. A criminal verdict absent a unanimous jury and proof 

beyond a reasonable doubt is null and void and of no effect in this State. 

4. The court in England gave instructions to the jury which omitted instructions on the 

standard ofproofbeing beyond areasonable doubt. Prior to conviction of an offense,N.J.S.A. 2C:l- 



e 13 requires each element of the offense must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt. If there is no 

such proof, the presumption of innocene of the defendant must stand. 

5 .  In the court's charge on page 9, the courl charges the jury on the burden of proof. 

There is no mention of the standard of "beyond a reasonable doubt" only that the jurors must be 

sure. Moreover, there is no mention that the jurors must make a finding as to each element of the 

alleged crime "beyond a reasonable doubt." Failure to require such a finding violates the defendant's 

rights to a fair trial and due process. The court's charge failed to provide a proper explanation of 

reasonable doubt and this failure constitutes reversible error. Importantly, in this State, the 

prosecution must prove every element of the offense charged beyond a reasonable doubt, and the 

burden of proving each and every element cannot be shifted to the defendant. 

6 .  More significantly, the court in England originally required a unanimous verdict. 

However, the jury, after significant deliberations could not reach a unanimous verdict. In England, 

apparently there is some mechanism to accept a less than unanimous verdict in criminal cases. So 

in the case at Bar, the court in England, after the jury reported their inability to reach a unanimous 

verdict, pennitted the jury to reach a non-unanimous verdict of guilt. Such a criminal verdict in this 

state would be void ab initio. No legal consequences can flow from such a void verdict. 

7. In addition to the fact that Dr. Kaul's conviction in England is void ab initio because 

there was not a unanimous verdict, there were numerous additional errors which deprived the 

defendant a fair trial and which, if the trial had occurred in New Jersey, would be grounds for 

reversal as a matter of law. Most significantly, there is no equivalent crime in New Jersey for the 

crime the defendant was charged with and convicted of in England. 



a. In New Jersey, a person cannot be guilty of either aggravated or reckless 

manslaughter unless he acted recklessly as defined by New Jersey law. 

In New Jersey, a person acls "recklessly" with respect to a material element 

of an offense only when he consciously disregards a substantial and unjustifiable 

risk that the material element exists or will result from his conduct. The risk must 

be of such a nature and degree that, considering the nature and purpose of the actor's 

conduct and the circumstances known to him, its disregard involves a gross deviation 

from the standard of conduct that a reasonable person would observe in the actor's 

situation. 

In this regard, a key part of the transcript is found in paragraphs D and E on 

page 89. The court stated "If, on the other hand, you are sure that the cardiac arrest 

resulted from hypoxia, then you have to ask, "why did the defendant fail to notice, 

that?" This is very significant in that N.J.S.A. 2C:2-2 sets forth thedefinitionsofthe 

v&ous levels of culpability. When dealing with reckless acts, our statute requires 

the actor to consciously disregard a substantial and unjustifiable risk. . . whereas, an 

actor acts negligently when he should be aware ofsubstantial and unjustifiable risk. 

With regard to aggravated manslaughter the government must prove 

additionally that he acted under circumstances manifesting extreme indifference to 

human life. That is, the risk level is elevated to a probability of death. No such 

instruction was given by the Judge to the jury. 

b. Such an erroneous instruction in a manslaughter case in New Jersey would 

certainly be grounds for reversal. 



c. The model jury charge for reckless conduct in this state defines that term as 

follows: 

"A person who causes another's death does so recklessly when hdshe 
is aware of and ccnsciously disregards a substantial and unjustifiable 
risk that death will result from hisher conduct. The risk must be of 
such a nature and degree that considering the nature and purpose of 
defendant's conduct and the circumstances known to the defendant, 
(hisher) disregard of that risk is a gross deviation fiom the standard 
of conduct that a reasonable person would follow in the same 
situation. In other words, you must find that defendant was aware of 
and consciously disregarded the risk of causing death. If you find that 
defendant was aware of and disregarded the risk of causing death, you 
must determine whether the risk that (helshe) disregarded was 
substantial and unjustifiable. In doing so, you must consider the 
nature and purpose of defendant's conduct, and the circumstances 
known to defendant, and you must determine whether, in light of 
those factors, defendant's disregard was a gross deviation fiom the 
conduct a reasonable person would have observed in defendant's 
situation." (Emphasis added). 

d. The definition of negligence under the Criminal Code, on the other hand; 

states: 

"A person acts negligently with respect to a material element of an 
offense when he should be aware of a substantial and unjustifiable 
risk that the material element exists or will result from this conduct. 
The risk must be of such a nature and degree that the actor's failure to 
perceive it, considering the nature and purpose of his conduct and the 
circumstances known to him, involves a gross deviation from the 
standard of care that a reasonable person would observe in the actor's 
situation. Negligently' or 'negligence' when used in this code, shall 
refer to the standard set forth in this section and not to the standard 
applied in civil cases." (Emphasis added) 

e. In the comment to the definition of negligence under the Code, it states: 

"There does not appear to be any New Jersey case which would 
find criminal liability based upon negligence as defined by the 
Code. Our cases stress the fact of the defendant's consciousness or 



awareness as being the element giving culpability to his conduct." 
(Emphasis added) 

f. An example of how the manslaughter charge in  the U.K. differs from the 
< 

crime of manslaughter in New Jersey is found on page 38 of the court's charge. 

There, the court allows a finding of inadvertence with regard to the issue of how far 

the patient was put under. In fact, on page 40, the court refers to the expert from the 

Crown who opined that what Dr. Kaul did was not deliberate. See also on page 5 1E. 

The court referred to the testimony of the Crown's experts in stating that Dr. Kaul 

departed from good practice. See page 68F. These are instructions based on civil 

negligence rather than reckless conduct. 

g. In criminal cases in New Jersey, the jury must be given accurate and 

understandable jury instruction. The standard of recklessness should not be given in 

the context of an abstract definition; rather, it should be compared with other mental 

states such as purposely, knowingly and negligently. I have tried numerous 

manslaughter cases over the years. If applicable, I would also charge negligence or 

accident in contradistinction to reckless conduct. The significance was that 

reckless conduct was a crime and negligent conduct was not. Accordingly, even if 

Dr. Kaul had been careless or negligent (which has not been established in New 

Jersey), his actions would not rise to the criminally culpable level in New Jersey, 

even if it was the proximate cause of the accident. 

h. Additionally, the recklessness must have proximately caused the death for the 

defendant to be held criminally beyond responsible doubt. Causation has a special 



meaning under New Jersey law. To establisl~ causation, the State must prove two 

elements, each beyond a reasonable doubt. First, that "but for" the defendant's 

conduct, Mrs. Bangura would not have died. Second, her death must have been 

within the risk of which defendant was aware. If not, it must involve the same kind 

of injury or harm as the probable result of the defendant's conduct, and must not be 

too remote, too accidental in its occurrence, or too dependent on another's volitional 

act to have a just bearing on the defendant's liability or the gravity of the offense. 

1. In New Jersey, i t  is required that a judge clearly define other culpability 

requirements in accordance with the Code. A proper explanation of the elements of 

a crime is especially crucial to the satisfaction of a criminal defendant's due process 

rights. There is reversible error when the court fails, whether or not requested, to 

instruct fully, clearly and accurately as to the fundamental and essential issues before 

the jury including each of the elements of the offense and the standard of culpability. 

j. The court in England did not provide a charge that would substantiate a 

conviction for manslaughter or any other crime in New Jersey. 

k. Even if its assumed that the conduct on part of Dr. Kaul might have been 

"reckless" so as to justify the court's instruction regarding this element of the offense, 

under New Jersey law, the "recklessness" must have proximately caused the death of 

Mrs. Bangura for the defendant to be held criminally responsible for her death. Error 

in failing to provide the jury in Dr. Kaul's prosecution with the proper, even though 

unrequested, .instructions on causation, was prejudicial. The charge given by the 

court tracked the prosecution's theory of the case. Instructions that were consistent 



with the defendant's and defendant's expert version of the facts were essential to the 

jury's proper consideration of that version. The trial court's failure to define the 

statutory element ofcausation in instruction to the jury would require reversal in the 

State of New Jersey. 

8. The factual basis underpinning the United Kingdom conviction would not be a crime 

in New Jersey. If there were a proceeding instituted, it would at best be a medical malpractice suit. 

The court in the U.K. did not require a jury to find that Dr. Kaul acted recklessly, as N.J.S.A. 2C:2-2 

requires. Rather, the court permitted a non-unanimous conviction based on what is our equivalent 

of civil negligence. 

9. It is my opinion that to enforce this conviction would be against the public policy of 

New Jersey and would violate the doctrine of fundamental fairness. The Supreme Court of New 

Jersey, as recently as State v. Cmz, 171 N.J. 419, 430 (2002), has acknowledged the judiciary's 

inherent authority, based, in part, on principles of hndamental fairness, to create appropriate and just 

remedies. In the instant case, the lack of a unanimous verdict, and the lack of proof beyond a 

reasonable doubt, both of which are bedrock requirements in the American system ofjustice, render 

any decision of the United Kingdom court null and void. The erasure of the license in the United 

Kingdom was predicated on the conviction for manslaughter, which, in my opinion, was null and 

void ab initio. Certainly, New Jersey courts cannot give comity in a situation where the laws are so 

diametrically opposite to o y  notion of fair play, justice and due process requirements. Comity must 

"cut both ways." It is my opinion that comity would not be appropriate to a conviction that is so 

offensive to the public policy of this State a s  evinced by our Constitution and Criminal Code. To 

suggest that New Jersey courts subsume into our system of justice, a foreign conviction that would 



, 
be nu]] and void ab initio, is contrary to our doctrine of fundamental fairness, and, indeed, against 

the public policy of New Jersey. 

10. The proceeding before the General Medical Council was predicated upon a foreign 

conviction that in my opinion would be null and void in New Jersey. 

I certify that the foregoing statements made by me are true. I am aware that if any of the 

foregoing statements made by me are wilIfully false, I am subject to punishment. 

%&nett E. Hoffman, Esq 
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Steven Boese, Executive Director c/o 
Office of the Professions N.Y. State Education Dept. 
Riverview Center 
150 Broadway, Suite 355 
Albany, N.Y. 12204 

re: Richard Kaul 
Application for Medical Physician Licensure 

Dear Members, 

May 7, 2021 

I have been asked by Dr. Kaul to submit an affidavit to the Office of the 
Professions N.Y. State Education Department in support of his application for 
medical licensure in the State ofNew York, and specifically regarding his moral 
character. 

About me, I have practiced law in New York since 1995, after having graduated 
from St. John's Law School, and specialize in intellectual property law, medical 
negligence and personal injury law. I am admitted into (list the courts). 

I first met Dr. Kaul in 2005 and have come to know him both personally and 
professionally. We were neighbors in Manhattan from 2005 to 2012, after which 
he relocated to New Jersey. Since then, we have remained in regular contact. 

Integrity: 

Dr. Kaul is a man of great morality, intelligence, integrity, wisdom and humility. 
My experiences have proven him to be a determined person, who has pursued his 
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life goals with a quiet perseverance and has repeatedly overcome seemingly 
insurmountable obstacles. Dr. Kaul's professional and personal achievements are 
many, but the most outstanding and enduring ones are his seemingly innumerable 
acts of kindness in caring and helping those less fortunate than himself. I believe 
that his inspirational element of his character would come from his own personal 
childhood experiences of loss, and his genuine appreciation and respect for well 
founded institutional principals, instilled in him by those that saw his potential and 
invested in his early development in England, namely Catholic 
eleemosynary orphanages and Jesuit schools that honed his personal fortitude and 
critical thinking and self reflection. Presumably evident in record, as well as one 
can gamer from any topic of conversation with him, is that he had, and continues 
to excel in academics and athletics. These achievements, in the face of incredible 
odds, talk to the strength of his moral character. Having lived alone starting at the 
early age of sixteen, he demonstrated then an incredible discipline that does not 
fade to this day, to not engage in delinquent or anti-social behavior. Instead, he 
focused on achieving educational and professional excellence. This is who Dr. 
Kaul is. I know him very well, and he is not an individual that some would have 
you believe. 

Highly Competent: 

Dr. Kaul is a highly competent and ethical physician. I know this because since 
2005, I have referred him several of my injured clients, and all, without fail, have 
expressed great satisfaction with the care and consultation he provided them. From 
the perspective of my interactions, I observed him to conduct his practice of 
medicine with diligence, professionalism and care and this was the opinion of 
numerous lawyers and physicians, whom I knew and who had worked with Dr. 
Kaul. His contributions to the field of spine medical treatment earn the high regard 
from his disclosures for invention contributions in 2005, for a procedure that 
permits spinal fusions to be performed in a same-day outpatient facility. It is my 
understanding that this percutaneous technique is now a standard if care. I have 
witnessed Dr. Kaul's expertise in multiple videos of him performing these 
procedures with apparent success. 
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Honorable Gentleman: 

My view is that the patient public lost service from a talented physician when Dr. 
Kaul's New Jersey medical license was suspended in June 2012, and then revoked 
in March 2014. It was also a loss to many impoverished people in Africa, whom 
Dr. Kaul had been helping since 2008, when he established the Spine Africa 
Project with his own money, time and resources, and plans to expand the charity. 
The revocation caused him to fall into a state of poverty, and he was therefore, not 
able to sustain the work of the charity. 

Facing the adversity of having his professional life swept from him, I witnessed 
Dr. Kaul's admirable character sustain. He did not give up despite losing 
everything, including his pursuit of happiness, his reputation and freedom. The 
harsh circumstances caused him to become estranged from his young son and 
daughter. He was arrested and jailed for non-payment of child support, and was 
made homeless on several occasions, one of which, in 2018, I was able to provide 
him shelter for four months. 

In this period too, I admired his tenacity, focus and determination to find justice for 
himself and his children. In one of our conversations, he told me that the reason he 
remained in the U.S. after his license was revoked, was to fight for the truth as to 
why his license was really revoked. He wanted to leave his children with a legacy 
of which they would be proud. He remained steadfast to his word doing this, as just 
another example of his measured stable character. While living in a state of abject 
poverty, in which oftentimes he had no money for food, he taught himself the law, 
and then on February 22, 2016, he initiated legal action in the United States 
District Court against those who by his estimates and allegations conspired against 
him with the sequelae to have impact his erstwhile licensed status, and sadly too 
his own personal life. 

Dr. Kaul is a righteous and principled individual, who since being divested from 
his medial license has sacrificed a lot in his quest for justice. He did not walk 
away, and he told me that in 2015, he was approached by certain individuals in 
New Jersey who attempted to extort him for money in return for having his license 
reinstated. He rejected that act, despite his desperate circumstances. This is the 
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conduct of an honorable man, one which the State of New York should be proud to 
have provide medical care within its borders. What happened to Dr. Kaul is may 
well be proven a travesty of justice, and from 2016 to the present he has remained 
within the law and used it in his favor to fight for that eventual justice. This talks to 
his character, determination and a moral fortitude that one rarely finds today. 

Generosity: 

I have seen and know many examples of Dr. Kaul's good moral character, 
generosity of time, money and spirit as his next-door neighbor for seven years, 
where he himself opened his door rent free to friends going through their own 
domestic disputes. During one of our conversations, he told me that his 
compassion for those encountering misfortune, came from his own experience 
from those who helped him during his earlier hardships. In one story, he described 
how, when he was a teenager he had no money to purchase bus or train tickets, and 
each time someone showed him generosity, he promised himself, that although he 
could not repay that particular person for that particular act, he would carry 
forward that spirit of generosity and help others when he had the money and 
resources. Dr. Kaul remained true to his promise and that is typical of his moral 
character. Time and time again his word has been his bond and so I am confident 
to regard him, to be his word. 

Evidence of Legally Good Moral Character: 

Having interacted with Dr. Kaul at professional and personal levels of affair, I 
came to know the accounts of his professional history in the UK and US. 
Regarding any residuum of his case in the UK, it is my understanding that Dr. 
Kaul, after a six-month suspension in 2003, had his license to practice medicine 
and surgery reactivated. Since 2001, the UK case has been examined, re-examined 
and legally dissected by American judges, lawyers, politicians and physicians and 
the New Jersey Medical Board, and has been found to have no legal weight in 
American jurisprudence. In fact, a hearing examiner in Pennsylvania, issued a 
decision on May 28, 2020 that likened the case to a medical malpractice action in 
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the US. Noteworthy to this point, the Pennsylvania hearing examiner did not find 
lack to good moral character. 

I believe that the New Jersey Board of Medical Examiners too concluded in 2003 
that the UK 'conviction' provided no basis for discipline. And in approximately 
2007, Dr. Kaul was granted permanent residence status in the U.S. where I was 
told that Dr. Kaul' s lawyer submitted legal briefs that argued the UK case was not 
a 'crime' of moral turpitude, and became the same position agreed and adopted by 
the U.S. Government. It is my understanding that the legal standards used by the 
Immigration and Naturalization Service would mirror those applied by the states in 
their evaluation of professional law and medical licenses. 

From 2001, Dr. Kaul paid his taxes and from 2003 to 2012, he generously 
supported his children and ex-wife. As I witnessed too, he is a responsible man, 
who maintained a cordial relationship with his ex-wife after a bitter divorce, in 
order to provide his children with a harmonious environment. From 2005 to 2012, 
his children would stay with him every other weekend, and I was able to see him as 
an amazing father. His children loved spending time with him, and on several 
occasions, when he invited friends with children to have lunch with him and his 
children, I would 'stop-by', and all I remember was a house full of joy. 

Other Legal Standards of Good Moral Character: 

As a lawyer, I am familiar with the legal standards regarding moral character 
evaluation to become licensed in law, as well as similar and many more standards 
for review applied in the courts so as to arrive upon a well-founded judgment. 

Although draconian doles of administration have burdened Dr. Kaul since 2012, he 
remained determined to reach a place of justice for himself, to once again provide 
for his children and masses of patients in need, including those erstwhile his own 
whom apparently continue to support him and await for his return. 

During the last decade though, the events that officially began on April 2, 2012 
caused his time with his children to become notably constricted. In 2015, he 
became subject to arrest warrant for unpaid child support, was arrested and jailed 
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in September 2016, and was prevented from seeing or even talking to his children 
from 2015 to 2018, when he was eventually able to have his ex-wife lift the 
warrant. 

All the while and despite having suffered burdensome effect and unjust tum in life 
circumstances from bureaucratic edict, I have never once witnessed him carp or 
wish destructive harm to anyone. Instead he shouldered the yoke on a proper 
pathway to restore his lifelong vocation here now before you. He is a deeply 
philosophical person, who along the way remained consistent in character to his 
earlier life's great personal and professional achievements - who when confronted 
with challenges that would have destroyed most people, on each occasion has 
fairly overcome the obstacle, as is the mark and type of professional individual 
that society needs more. 

I state with certainty that the moral character of Dr. Kaul meets and exceeds all 
relevant standards of moral fitness, and as such, an asset to the medical profession 
in the State of New York and its people, and on which I indeed support his 
application for State of New York medical licensure. 

/ 

David DeToffol, Esq. 

S.S.: N.Y. County: 
On this date and before me, the above individual known to me, signed this 
statement acknowledging its contents and truthfulness as stated therein. 

NOTARY 

/f(Jz 
Dated: ~ / l /z; 

JOSHUA GITTLEMAN 
NOTARY PUBLIC-STATE OF NEW YOR K 

No. 02GI6392290 
Qualified in New York County 

My Commission Expires 05-28-2023 
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F. Richard Jordan M.D., P.A. 

Neurological Surgery 
4020 Richards Road , Suite A 

North Little Rock , Arkansas 72117 
______________________________ 

            Telephone: (501) 945-4845 Fax: (501) 945-4865 
 
 
April 25, 2012 
 
 
Paul Jordan, MD 
President, New Jersey Board of Medical Examiners 
140 E. Front St. 
Trenton, NJ 08625 
 
Re: Richard Kaul, MD 
 
Dear Dr. Jordan: 
 
What a coincidence to find that I am writing to another Dr. Jordan! And my son’s name is Paul 
as well. I am obviously a neurosurgeon in Arkansas, board certified since 1984, who has been 
doing general neurosurgery in this location since 1982. I have an interest in pain and spine, but 
also do craniotomies and all other forms of neurosurgery, except that in recent years I have 
stopped doing aneurysms and basilar skull tumors. 
 
Dr. Kaul has asked me to do a review of his practice. I came up and did so over this past 
weekend and until Tuesday. We spent a great deal of time in chart review and discussions of 
patient care and surgical technique. Although I saw a video of him operating, I was denied the 
opportunity to actually observe an operation as he is on a hiatus. 
 
Herewith is a summary of my observations: he seems to know what he is doing. He is, in 
general, conservative. Most of his patients have been with him for some time and have 
undergone conservative care including epidural injections, facet injections, and extensive 
evaluation including MRIs, diskograms with post-procedure CT, and neurophysiologic studies 
before any surgery is done. I played devil’s advocate to try to point out the flaws in procedure. 
The only thing I found is that he is operating on smokers, and we have discovered that spinal 
fusions, especially the multi-level type, do not heal well in smokers, particularly if they are post-
menopausal women. I encouraged him to try to make them stop smoking before he agreed to 
operate on them. He will, on occasion, try to compensate by putting them in a bone growth 
stimulator. 
 
In surgery he uses neuromonitoring. He always uses multiplanar fluoroscopy. Anesthesia is 
given by anesthesiologists. If a patient has to stay overnight, there are two nurses and a physician 
who monitor them. 



I realize that Dr. Kaul does not have the same type training that most of us have, having been 
trained partially here, partially in England, and partially in Korea, but he has a good grasp of 
principles and techniques. His outcomes are rather good. We discussed some oddities of his 
practice, such as doing stages procedures. His feelings are that this avoids long anesthesia times 
and minimizes the need for overnight stays, and that is valid. In a hospital setting, I would do 
those cases at one sitting because I would expect them to stay a day or two in hospital. He does 
not have that option. 
 
He has started a project called SpineAfrica, whereby he goes to Ethiopia and Congo twice a year 
to do spine surgery in areas that have no spine surgeons. He funds much of this out of pocket and 
his only reward is satisfaction in helping disadvantaged peoples. 
 
I am aware that there is a hearing on the horizon to review his credentials. We have a 
neurosurgeon in our area who is from Iran. They are very similar in their approaches. It is 
sometimes different from our own, but not necessarily bad. I would certainly see no reason to 
censure him or threaten his license. I gave him some good advice and hope he follows it, but it is 
just fine-tuning. We all hope to get better with time, and I am sure that he will. 
 
 
Sincerely,  
 

 

________________________ 

F. Richard Jordan, MD 

 



LUIS	RAMIREZ-PACHECO,	M.D.	
719	Cypress	Street	
New	Milford,	N.J.	07646	
	
	
Re:	Richard	Kaul,	M.D.	(Medical	License)																																																					8/13/2014	
	
	
Dear	Members	of	the	New	Jersey	Medical	Board:	
	
I	am	writing	this	letter	in	support	of	the	application	of	Dr.	Richard	Kaul	to	have	his	
NJ	medical	license	re-instated.	I	am	an	interventional	pain	physician	and	have	been	
licensed	for	the	practice	of	medicine	in	P.R,	and	N.J.	since	1976.	
	
I	have	known	Dr.	Kaul	professionally	for	over	10	years	and	have	had	the	
opportunity	to	witness	on	many	occasions	his	great	technical	competence	in	the	
performance	of	Interventional	Pain	Management	specific	on	spinal	procedures.	His	
professionalism,	focus	and	the	patient	rapports	are	outstanding	and	like	me,	there	
many	instances	during	which	other	doctors	would	spend	time	observing	his	
technique.	
	
Within	the	interventional	pain	community	Dr.Kaul	has	always	had	the	reputation	of	
being	a	highly	skilled	and	technically	competent	physician	who	takes	the	welfare	of	
his	patients	very	seriously.	It	would	be	a	great	thing	for	the	community	if	Dr.	Kaul	
were	allowed	to	return	to	practice.	
	
I	would	therefore	respectfully	ask	the	medical	board	to	consider	the	re-installation	
of	the	N.J.	medical	license	to	Dr.	Richard	Kaul.	
	
Should	there	be	any	further	information	you	need	please	contact	me	at	my	address	
or	to	my	phone	(201)	615-8488.							
	
	
	
Respectfully	Submitted,	

	
Luis	Ramirez-Pacheco,	M.D.	



ANESTHESIOLOGY & PAIN PROFESSIONAL PRACTICE 
55 Hardwick Lane, Wayne NJ 07470 
Tel 201 894 1313 Fax 201 894 1335 

 
To: New Jersey Medical Board 
 
Re: Richard Kaul, MD 
 
I am board certified Anesthesiologist and Interventional Pain specialist. I have 
been in private practice in New Jersey and New York for over 20 years.  
 
I am writing this letter to support Dr.Kaul in his application for the reinstatement 
of his medical license.  
 
I first met Dr.Kaul in 2006 when we were both working at the same surgical center 
and got to know him both professionally and personally. 
From 2006 onwards I was able to observe him - both as an anesthesiologist and 
pain management specialist - performing procedures and surgeries on the spine.  
 
He is very skilled and competent physician that truly cares about the welfare of 
his patients. His technical abilities are among the best in the field of interventional 
pain practice. His medical and clinical knowledge is superior. 
His judgment is sound. His clinical skills are superior. 
 
I also observed his interactions with the nursing and administrative staff and 
found him to be very professional. His communication and interpersonal skills 
including ability to work with others, relationship with patients and their families,  
relationship with healthcare team and clarity and legibility of records are superior. 
His professionalism including responsiveness and accountability to patients and 
profession, adherence to ethical principles, efficiency in utilization of resources 
are superior. 
 
Dr. Kaul is a respected physician within the interventional pain community as a 
practicing physician. Dr Kaul has been at the forefront of interventional spine 
specialty and has been instructor to other physicians in this field. 
 
I would therefore fully and without reservation support Dr Kaul in his efforts to 
have the license to practice medicine fully reinstated.  
 
(Should there be any further information you require please contact me directly 
at my cell number 646 431 8560). 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
________________ 
Dariusz Nasiek, M.D. 
Board Certified by American Board of Anesthesiology 
Board Certified by American Board of Pain Medicine 
Board Certified by American Board of Interventional Pain Physician 
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Richard Kaul, M.D. 

New Jersey Spine & Rehabilitation 


1 1 1 'Wanaque Avenue 

Pompton Lakes, NJ 07442 

Telephone: 201 -291 -2742 

Facsimile: 973-248-8844 


Attention: /"114zcP " ~ M ~ ~  
Attached, please find consent forms for your upcoming surgery. 

Please read carefully, initial and sign in the appropriate areas. 

Once completed, you may fax or mail the forms back to our office. 

-Please be advised, consent forms must be received before your surgery. In the 
event we are unable to receive the consent forms before then, please bring the 
originals with you at the time of your surgery. 

If you have any questions, please contact the-office at the number listed above. 



Richard Kaul, M.D. 

New Jersey Spine & Rehabilitation 


11 1 Wanaque Avenue 

Pompton Lakes, NJ 07442 

Telephone: 201 -291 -2742 

Facsimile: 973-248-8%44 


Patient's Name: m'* ze Date of Surgery: / ~ ~ P Q J - ~ L -31,b e 8  

Description of Surgery: /u r * ,hM 1 	 &st* ef L2-3, L 3 - c / , ~ y - ~
~ * k e A b r \iuih ,?rkrbOdYm s k  and -;k 


pmknbr M u a r c  


Consent to Spinal Surgery 

se read each paragraph thoroughly, if you agree with what the paragraph says, 

initial on the line next to the paragraph. 


1. 	 This is consent for Richard Kaul, M.D., together with any other 
surgeon who is working with him, to perform spinal surgery as previously 
explained to me and to perform other procedures deemed necessary or 

y-\, 
advisable in the opinion of the surgeon to complete the planned 
operation. I have made my decision for surgery voluntarily and freely. 

occasionally there are complications of the surgery. I accept the 
possibility that these complications may occur. 

are certain risks associated with this procedure. The risks include, among 
other things, death, permanent full paralysis, permanent partial paralysis, 
voice box paralysis in cervical surgery, permanent brain damage, 

/m permanent partial blindness, permanent complete blindness, temporary 

or permanent infection and temporary or permanent severe pain. 


It has been explained to me and I fully understand that there 
are possible benefits associated with this surgery. However, it has been 
explained to me and I fully understand that there is no certainty that I wi!t 

7 	 receive these benefits. No guarantees have been made to me about the 

outcome of this surgery. 
!,rn

5. 	 The alternatives to this surgery, including no treatment at all, k ! !  have been explained to me. The advantages and disadvantages of 
each of the alternatives have been explaiied to me. I have decided to 
proceed with the spinal surgery. 
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3 6. I know that during the operation unexpected conditions may 
require additional or different procedures than those described to me. 
Since at the time I may be under anesthesia or otherwise unable to give 
consent, I give permission and ask that the surgeon performing this 
operation and his assistants or designees, perform procedures which the 
surgeon thinks are necessary and desirable, involving, but not limited to 
procedures involving surgery. This permission includes treating all 
conditions that the physician thinks require treatment, even if the 
condition was not known when the operation began. 

c- 7. 	 It has been explained to me and I fully understand that more 
7-
-- treatments may be required in the future and that the future treatments 

1: q.4.may include further surgery. 

!\. \\ 
\ I have had an opportunity to discuss with Richard Kaul, M.D., 

\, my complete past medical and health history including any serious 

\--	problems and/or injuries. Dr. Kaul has answered all of my questions 

concerning the surgery, risks, benefits and alternatives. I am satisfied with 
Dr. Kaul's answers. 

9 .  	 1 understand that there is no warranty or guarantee as to the 
result and that my condition may return or become worse. 

I have read and I @llyunderstand the terms and words in this consent for spinal surgery. 

/--) 

I 

Surgeon 

Wit@s 	 Date 



Richard Kaul, M.D. 

New Jersey Spine & Rehabilitation 


11 1 Wanaque Avenue 

Pompton Lakes, NJ 07442 

Telephone: 201 -291 -2742 

Facsimile: 973-240-8844 


Patient Name: &fci& r / l & ~ c  

Do you now or have you ever had any heart problems? 


Has your family a history of heart problems? 


Do you now, or have you ever had a problemlincident with your blood/bleeding? 


Has anyone in your family ever had a problem with bloodlbleeding? 


Have you ever had any sort of reaction or problem with anesthesia? 


Are you allergic to anything, including metal? 


Are you allergic to latex? 


Do you now or have you ever had a problem with breathing? 


9.  	 Have you ever tested positive for Hepatitis A, B or C? 

10. 	 Have you ever tested positive for HlVB 

1 1. 	 Have you ever tested positive for viruses or infections that may be important in 
decision making regarding patient care and management? 

12. 	 Are you taking any aspirin based medication or anti-inflammatory medication? 

13. 	 Are you taking Plavix or any other blood thinners? 

14. 	 Do you smoke? ~h-9 Did you ever smoke? How many? 

15. 	 Is there $thin~.bout your medical history that you may have 
mention t the doctor that is relevant, now you are going for surgery? 

t d,w, if+r,/of 
Patient $ignature ate 



Richard Kaul, M.D. 

New Jersey Spine & Rehabilitation 


11 1 Wanaque Avenue 

Pompton Lakes, NJ 07442 

Telephone: 201 -291 -2742 

Facsimile: 973-248-8844 


Date of Surgery: 	 31, &8 

I, &+Ah-f l ~ 3 k  ,have been advised of the following: 
(please print name) 

4 	 Pre-Operatively I must have the following completed: 

4 All questions that I have regarding the surgery have been answered. 
4 I am aware that my first post-operative appointment will be 10- 14 days after 

.the surgery with Dr. Kaul. 
4 	 I should not participate in any exercise or physical therapy program until advised 

to do so by one of the surgeons. For the first six weeks the only exercise is 
progressive ambulation - that is walking more as time passes. -

4 	 I have received a copy of the patient information packet. 

'The Surgical Center will call me the day before the surgery to advise me of the time to 
come to the center. 

If I have any additional non-medical questions, I have been given the contact details 
of Kelly Poppe, the Practice Administrator; I have also been told that Dr. Kaul will 
answer, to the best of his ability, any further questions that I might have. 



Richard Kaul, M.D. 

New Jersey Spine & Rehabilitation 


11 1 Wanaque Avenue 

Po'mpton Lakes, NJ 07442 

Telephone: 201 -291 -2742 

Facsimile: 973-248-8844 


Some Thinns You Should Know About S~inal Suraerv 

It is important to' understand that medicine is an in not an exact science. Although we 
plan and carry out our surgery as carefully as possible, the results can vary in their 
degree of success. It is only natural for a patient undergoing spinal surgery to want to 
be reassured that everything will turn out alright. Most of the time it will, but most of the 
time is not all of the time, so it is necessary to talk about what can go wrong. 

In the "old days", physicians did not always emphasize the risks of surgery because they 
did not want their patients to worry about things that they felt were their responsibility. 
But now it is very important that you be aware of the risks involved and actively 
participate in the decision to operate. You should also b aware of the alternatives to 
surgery, which does not always included doing the surgery. We cannot promise you a 
good result because it is impossible to deliver that-every time, but we can promise you 
to do our best. 

It is very important that you think about all of this, ask questions, and be sure you feel 
that you are doing the right thing, at the right time, with the right doctor ...if you are not 
sure then you should let me know. 

Please now go on to the following pages which discuss informed consent. Any 
questions you have should be brought to my attention and I will attempt to answer all 
of your questions to your satisfaction. 



,"/ 


Richard Kaul, M.D. 

New Jersey Spine 8, Rehabilitation 


11 1 wanaque Avenue 

Pompton Lakes, NJ 07442 

Telephone: 201 -291 -2742 

Facsimile: 973-248-8644 


Dr. Kaul has explained my diagnosis to me and why the procedure is indicated. 
He has given me amply opportunity to ask questions and has provided sufficient 
information on risks. common com~lications and alternative to the ~rocedure for 
me to consent to Lmhe, ib&-bodz -3,~3'-4.Ram e/-L a  I4-s 
performedbyDr.Kaul. in*rbd3 d s k e c y r c r 8  r l / l o + e ' h  r d u *  

r ' n b r - 4 p h i ha<&-

Paf-r ic;& J ~ A z ~  
Patient Name PIe,useprint) 

I, Dr. Kaul, have explained the diagnosis and indications for surgery and have 
answered all questions concerning these. I have provided information on risks, 

lications and alternatives to the procedure. 

l / /&pDate 
Richard ~du1,M.D. ' 

v 

&natures witnessed by Date 



OPERATIVE REPORT 
 

BERGEN PASSAIC AMBULATORY SURGERY CENTER 
1084 Main Avenue 
Clifton, NJ 07011 
 
        PATIENT:  Patricia Maze 
               SURGEON:  Richard Kaul, M.D. 
             ASSISTANT:  John Woods, ST, SFA 
              NEURO TECHNICIAN:  Anthony Benevenga 
 
DATE OF SURGERY:  11/21/2008 
 
PREOPERATIVE DIAGNOSES:  1)  Herniated lumbar disk, L2-L3. 

2) Herniated lumbar disk, L3-L4. 
3) Herniated lumbar disk, L4-L5. 
4) Lumbar radiculopathy. 
5) Concordant diskogenic back pain, L2-L3. 
6) Concordant diskogenic back pain, L4-L5. 

 
POSTOPERATIVE DIAGNOSES: 
1) Status post lumbar interbody fusion with mesh cage and allograft bone at  
 the L2-L3 level. 
2) Status post lumbar interbody fusion with mesh cage and allograft bone at  
 the L3-L4 level. 
3) Status post lumbar interbody fusion with mesh cage and allograft bone at  
 the L4-L5 level. 
4) Insertion of transfacet pedicular screws bilaterally at the L3 pedicles. 
5) Insertion of transfacet pedicular screws bilaterally at the L4 pedicles. 
6) Insertion of transfacet pedicular screws bilaterally at the L5 pedicles. 
 
ANESTHESIA:  General endotracheal intubation. 
 
ANESTHETIST:  Dr. DiGiovanni. 
 
FLUID GIVEN:  Lactated ringers. 
 
CONDITION ON TRANSFER TO PACU:  Good. 
 
BLOOD LOSS:  Less then 100 cc. 
 
COMPLICATIONS:  None. 
 
OPERATION:  1)  Lumbar interbody fusion with mesh cage and allograft bone  
   at the L2-L3 level. 

2) Lumbar fusion with interbody mesh cage and allograft bone 
at the L3-L4 level. 
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3) Lumbar fusion with interbody mesh cage and allograft bone 
at the L4-L5 level. 

4) Insertion of transfacet pedicular screws at the L3 pedicles 
bilaterally. 

5) Insertion of transfacet pedicular screws at the L4 pedicles 
bilaterally. 

6) Insertion of transfacet pedicular screws at the L5 pedicles 
bilaterally. 

7) Multiplanar fluoroscopy. 
8) SSEP and intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring 

performed by Anthony Benevenga. 
9) Injection of caudal epidural for postoperative pain relief with 

epidurogram under fluoroscopic control. 
10)  Selective nerve root block at the L2-L3 levels on the left and 

right sides. 
 
INDICATION FOR PROCEDURE:  The patient was initially consulted on 
11/08/2007.  At that time she was a 44-year-old female who gave a history of 
having been involved in an accident on 10/12/2005 resulting in an injury to 
her lumbosacral spine.  The patient subsequently underwent an extensive 
course of conservative therapy with a laminectomy being carried out at the L4-
L5 level.  The patient however continued to experience back and leg 
symptomatology and at her initial consult had positive neurological and 
musculoskeletal findings which supported the recommendation for the lumbar 
diskogram.  The diskogram was carried out by Dr. Qureshi and indicated 
concordancy and disruption of the disks at the L2-L3 and L4-L5 levels.  The 
patient was followed up on 09/03/2008 with the results of the diskogram for a 
discussion of the therapeutic options.  The patient continued to demonstrate 
positive neurological and musculoskeletal findings which in conjunction with 
the positive diskogram and the previous MRI indicating herniations at the L2-
L3, L3-L4, and L4-L5 levels.  The patient was recommended for a lumbar 
interbody fusion.  At that time, a discussion was held with the patient with 
regards to the various therapeutic options available to her and she was advised 
that she could undergo further conservative therapy, have no therapy, undergo 
interventional pain therapy, or undergo surgical intervention.  The surgical 
options were discussed and described as including lumbar interbody fusion 
with posterior instrumentation.  The patient was advised that this would be 
carried out in a minimally invasive fashion to minimize trauma to the 
paraspinal structures.  The risks and benefits of the surgery were fully 
discussed with the patient and these were described as including, but not 
limited to infection, nerve damage, bleeding, paralysis, failure to get better, and 
possibility of getting worse.  The patient was allowed to ask questions, which 
were fully answered to the patient’s satisfaction and in addition, the patient 
was also advised of the training and experience of the surgeon carrying out the 
procedure.  After a full and thorough discussion during which the risks and 
rationale of the surgery were fully discussed, and during which the patient 
made it clear that she understood that her disks would be removed and 
replaced with allograft bone and that she would have hardware inserted, the 
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patient decided to proceed with the lumbar interbody fusion at the L2-L3, L3-
L4, and L4-L5 levels with insertion of posterior hardware. 
 
DETAILS OF PROCEDURE:  The patient attended the surgical center on 
11/21/2008 with her husband.  The patient was admitted by the nursing staff 
and was taken from the reception area to the preoperative holding area.  The 
appropriate paperwork including the consent form was signed and the patient 
placed in a gown.  The patient was interviewed by the anesthesiologist who 
explained the risks and benefits associated with the anesthetic component of 
the surgery and intravenous access was obtained.  The patient was taken to 
the operating room where the monitors, the EKG, blood pressure, and pulse 
oximetry monitors were applied.  The patient was induced and intubated and 
then turned prone on to a Kambin frame with the pressure points in the head, 
eyes, neck, upper and lower extremities fully protected.  Compression stockings 
were then applied to the patient’s legs for DVT prophylaxis.  In addition, the 
patient was given a gram of antibiotics Ancef 1 gram.  Once the patient have 
been properly and safety position on the Kambin frame, using the C-arm in 
both AP and lateral views, the midline of the spine was identified at the levels of 
the L2-L3, L3-L4, and L4-L5 levels marked out clearly.  The entry points for 
these sheaths were identified as being located between 8 to 10-cm on the 
midline at the L2, L3, and L4 levels.  The back was then prepped and draped in 
sterile fashion and the surgical procedure was then begun. 
 
The initial levels to be addressed were the L2-L3 level and the exact same 
technique was used at L3-L4 and L4-L5.  A description of that technique will be 
given in this paragraph and it should be noted that the exact same technique 
was replicated at the L3-L4 and at the L4-L5 levels. 
 
The procedure was started from the patient’s left hand side.  A 10-inch 18-
gauge needle was inserted under fluoroscopic guidance fully to the 
posterolateral margin of the disk.  The needle was inserted into the disk.  The 
stylette was removed and indigo carmine was injected to carry out a diskogram 
of the disk.  The diskogram indicated disruption of the disk with leakage of the 
contrast into the epidural space.  A guidewire was inserted through the needle 
and the needle was removed over the guidewire and incision was made and a 
set of serial dilatators were advanced under fluoroscopic guidance to free the 
posterolateral margin of the disk.  Once the dilators were in place, the sheath 
was inserted over the dilators and secured.  The same technique was used for 
inserting a sheath from the patient’s right hand side as a biportal technique 
was used at the L2-L3, L3-L4, and L4-L5 levels for decompression, endplate 
preparation and graft insertion.  Having secured a biportal approach at the L2-
L3 level, the diskectomy was carried out using pituitaries, suction, and a 
special shaper.  The disk material was removed and then the endplates were 
prepared using a special shaper.  Brisk bleeding was seen to occur into the 
intervertebral space as evidenced by the insertion of an endoscope opposite the 
working portal.  Under both video and fluoroscopic guidance, the diskectomy 
was carried out, the endplates were prepared, ready for insertion of the 
allograft bone and the mesh cage.  The mesh cage was inserted into the joint 
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and under fluoroscopic guidance, and allograft bone was then tapped into the 
mesh cage expanding the mesh cage during distinct visualized fluoroscopically 
and on the video monitor.  Once the mesh cage had been successfully placed 
into the intervertebral space and position had been secured, the sheaths were 
removed from the left and from the right.  The exact same technique was used 
at the L3-L4 and the L4-L5 levels to insert the mesh cages at those particular 
levels. 
 
Once the interbody devices had been successfully placed and confirmed in 
position fluoroscopically and on video, the transfacet pedicular screws were 
inserted at the L3, L4, and L5 pedicles bilaterally.  The same technique was 
used for inserting the transfacet pedicular screws at each of the levels.  A small 
midline incision was made at L2-L3 and dissected down to the lumbodorsal 
fascia.  Using the Jamshidi needle under fluoroscopic guidance, the needle was 
advanced down on to the facet joints at the aforementioned levels.  The stylette 
was removed from the needle and a K-wire was used to drill for the facet into 
the pedicle and into the body.  Having created the track, a drill and then an awl 
were then used to prepare the bone for insertion of the transfacet pedicular 
screw.  Having prepared the track, the screw was then inserted under 
fluoroscopic guidance through the facet into the pedicle.  The same technique 
again was used for each of the six screws inserted and the procedure was 
carried out with intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring which indicated 
normal and intact neural function and structure during the procedure.  Having 
successfully placed the screws at the multiple levels with the interbody devices, 
the patient’s back was then closed in interrupted 2-0 Vicryl layers.  The patient 
had a caudal epidural injection carried out and had a selective nerve root block 
carried out at the L2-L3 level on the left and right sides with minimization of 
post-neural inflammation.  The patient was then turned on to her back 
extubated and taken to the recovery room.  The patient made an uneventful 
recovery and was discharged from the facility in stable neurological and 
cardiovascular state.  The patient was examined twice before discharge, and 
was seemed to be ambulating without assistance and had voided successfully.  
In addition, the patient had drunk, eaten and had stable vital signs.  The 
patient was given a full set of postop instructions, number to contact in case of 
an emergency, a prescription of antibiotics, muscle relaxants, and painkillers, 
and the date of her next appointment. 
 

 
Richard Kaul, M.D. 
 
RK/MED 
Date of Dictation: 11/23/08   
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Statement of Fact 

Fraudulent medical malpractice claims: 

55. In a period from at least 2009 to 2018, multiple lawsuits were filed against Kaul for 
alleged medical malpractice. The clinical notes in all of these cases evidence that there 
had been no malpractice, as in over ninety percent (90%) of these cases, the patients; 
pain/disability improved and in the remaining ten percent (10%) it remained the same. 
The majority of these fraudulent insurance claims were filed after the widely publicized 
illegal suspension/revocation of Kaul's NJ license (2012/2014) in NJ state courts 
corrupted/controlled by Defendants Christie/Allstate/Brown. In the period from 2012 to 
2015 on at least seven (7) occasions, the Defendants defrauded Kaul's medical 
malpractice carriers. The theft included the following amounts: (i) $200,000; (ii) 
450,000: (iii) 125,000: (iv) 425,000; (v) 750,000; (vi) 1,000,000: (vii) 605,000. A 
percentage of these monies constituted kickbacks to Defendant Christie and his political 
campaigns for the offices of the 2013 NJ Governor/2016 Republican Presidential 
nomination. 

56. From 2009 to 2016, Defendants Allstate/Hafner used the US mail/wires to propagate 
these knowing fraudulent judgments to every state/federal healthcare agency, including 
the National Practitioners Data Bank. 

57. These fraudulent judgments have been reported and re-reported hundreds of times over 
the US mail/wires and into the public domain using the media/internet. 

58. On May 27, 2020, these fraudulent judgments were reported by the State of 
Pennsylvania, in a proposed order that granted Kaul's application for licensure. These 
fraudulent judgments, a perpetuation/consequence of the Defendants' crimes, constitute 
an obstruction of justice that will significantly impede Kaul's ability to procure medical 
malpractice insurance for future medical malpractice, unless made null/void with 
restitution of all monies to his prior medical malpractice carriers. 

59. The Pennsylvania Medical Board, a defendant in K11-1, conspired/colluded with 
Defendants NJBME/Hafner/Allstate to continue violating Kaul's legal rights by filing an 
untimely order to review the May 27, 2020 order of the State of Pennsylvania. However, 
on February 8, 2021, after Kaul had filed: (i) a petition for a writ of mandamus in the 
Supreme Court of Pennsylvania (December 2, 2020); (ii) motion for judicial 
disclosure of conflicts of interest-ex parte communications; (iii) K11-1 (includes 
Defendants Pennsylvania Medical Board/Mark B. Woodland-President of 
PMS/University of Pittsburgh (employs member of Defendant PMS), Defendant PMS 
adopted in its entirety the May 27, 2020 opinion/order. 

60. The May 27, 2020, however, perpetuates the Defendants schemes in that it 
requires Kaul to undertake a cost prohibitive 'remediation' course, employ a physician 
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monitor for five (5) years, a period for which his license will remain on probation. The 
order is engineered to entrap Kaul and further deprives Kaul of any right to defend 
himself against any future arbitrary/capricious/patently illegal efforts to defraud Kaul of 
the property of his PA medical license. As of March 15, 2021, Kaul and Defendants 
PMS/Woodland/University of Pittsburgh are adversaries in the United States District 
Court for the Northern District of Texas (K11-1 ). Kaul will be moving in the Supreme 
Court of Pennsylvania/PA Legislature to have an independent ombudsman/committee 
oversee Defendants PMS/Woodland/University of Pittsburgh. The oversight/watchdog 
element will be incorporated into The Kaul Act, a piece of legislation purposed to 
protect physicians' constitutional right to due process, in regard to the property of their 
medical license. 

61. Since at least the late 1970s for-profit corporations 
(insurance/pharmaceutical/medical device/hospital) have increasingly and with lethal 
impunity, deprived American physicians of their legal rights/property/livelihood/liberty 
and on many tragic occasions, their lives (400 suicides/year). This genocidal scheme 
has been perpetrated in conspiracy/collusion with corrupt politicians/judges/journalists, 
in violation of RICO/Antitrust law and in the sole pursuit of corporate/executive profit. 

62. Cited below are some examples of the blatant fraud committed by the 
Defendants and their equally culpable clients/patients through/by/with the politico-legal 
apparatus of the State of New Jersey. 

63. DOLORES SICA: 

Dolores Sica v Richard Kaul, MD et al: ESX-L-7421-12 - Lawyer/Law Firm - Abbott 
Brown/Lomurro/Schottland Law: Judge/Court - NJ Superior Court: Essex County: 
Insurance Carrier - Caitlin/Rockbridge: Physician - Michael Murphy, MD: Amount of 
insurance fraud - Approximately $1.5 million (Kaul/Bergen Passaic Surgical Center) 

July 5, 2007 - Consultation: 

"This is a 50-year-old female, who has a history that goes back approximately five 
to six months and is one of severe pain in the lower back, which goes into the left 
leg ... The patient states that walking has become difficult ... going to the 
bathroom also are difficult." 

March 12, 2008 - Follow-Up Consultation: 

"The patient was in today after having last been seen on 02/23/08 at which time 
the patient underwent the third in a series of three radiofrequency lesioning of the 
lumbar facet joints. The patient is having an excellent outcome to the 
neurotomies of the lumbar facet joints and has done very well with regards to her 
lower back." 

January 81 2009 - Letter from Sica to Kaul: 
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"I will never forget you for your kindness and excellent work ... I hope and pray 
life gives you the best in life because you deserve it. Thank you again for all the 
help you have given me." 

October 5, 2012 - Malpractice claim filed: 

"Dolores Sica was caused severe injuries, causing her great pain and suffering, 
causing her to seek further medical treatment and incur further medical treatment 
... disabling her from her normal activities ... caused to seek medical treatment ... 
disabled from her normal activities and employment." 

In 2017, as part of Kaul's motion to vacate a default judgment, Kaul submitted a 
chronology of the preceding/surrounding political/legal/medical/media events. 

January 11, 2017 - Sica v Kaul: Chronology of Defendants Professional 
Jealousy/Political Corruption/Evidence Tampering+ Kaul's Professional/Personal 
History: 

" ... upper crust British accent ... widespread publicity that both attacked Dr. 
Kaul's reputation, and disseminated information about his assets ... " 

"Dr. Kaul was credentialed by a state licensed surgical center to perform 
minimally invasive spine surgery. The granting of privileges was based on his 
qualifications, credentials, experience, peer recommendations and possession of 
insurance coverage. From 2002 5to 2012, Dr. Kaul obtained minimally invasive 
spine surgery privileges at least six (6) state licensed surgical centers ... " 

"Cheryl Schwartz described how Kuren had improved after the surgery, [lumbar 
spinal fusion] and then decided to sue after she tripped, and a fish tank had fallen 
on her leg." 

"The pattern is almost identical, and both cases involve neurosurgeons. Schwartz 
concluded the letter by stating "She did this herself and she is to blame not him. I 
think this is insanity." 

"So, the surgical procedures performed by Dr. Kaul in this case are commonly 
and ubiquitously performed by anesthesiologists, physiatrists, neurosurgeons 
and orthopedic surgeons. Furthermore, we have the benefit of two- and three­
dimensional imaging studies taken after Dr. Kaul's procedure that show that the 
hardware he implanted was appropriately positioned and deployed." 

"What did Heary say to you at your first appointment?" Kuren stated "He spoke 
to me about Dr. Kaul." The neurosurgeons regularly engaged in slanderous 
gossip about Dr. Kaul ... " 
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"The proceeding exposed the medical board, under the Christie regime, to be a 
state agency that performed his political 'dirty work'. Christie used the medical 
board in a quid pro quo scheme with neurosurgeons ... " 

"Truth + Justice - Dr. Kaul will submit an application for a medical license in New 
York State." (On February 8, 2021, the Pennsylvania Medical Board concurred with the 
May 27, 2020 order of the State of Pennsylvania to grant Kaul a license. In early 2021, 
Kaul submitted an application to the State of New York. The matter is pending. In due 
course, Kaul will move Governor Philip Murphy to have Kaul's NJ license reinstated with 
a public apology/compensation). 

January 6, 2017 - Sica v Kaul: ESX-L-7421-12: K8 - Kaul CRITIQUE OF 'EXPERT' 
REPORTS: 

Kaul submitted fact that proved the three so called 'experts' (Murphy/Skolnick/Deluty) 
were not qualified under the law to testify as to the standard regarding the performance 
of minimally invasive spine surgery: 

"Murphy is not qualified to opine because he has no education, training, 
experience, or qualifications in minimally invasive spine surgery ... Murphy has 
no education, training, qualifications or experience in interventional spinal 
techniques. Murphy has rendered similarly flawed reports for the same counsel 
[Defendant Brown] in matters that were part of the plaintiff's bar 'feeding frenzy'. 

"Sica's ongoing pain is a consequence ... the two destabilizing surgeries 
performed with antiquated techniques, by a neurosurgeon. Sica did well after the 
Dr. Kaul surgery." 

February 24, 2017 - Sica v Kaul: ESX-L-7412-12: K8 - Reply to Plaintiff's opposition to 
motion to vacate default judgment: 

Defendant Brown opposed Kaul's motion to vacate the default judgment, and thus Kaul 
alerted the court to crimes orchestrated by Defendant Christie/State of New Jersey, that 
included the felony of Evidence Tampering. In early 2017, Kaul made oral argument in 
front of Judge Annette Scoca. Defendant Brown's colleague, Matthew Schiappa was 
present 

"Within these arguments the 'excusable neglect' and 'meritorious defense' 
elements are substantiated by the plaintiff's allegations of forged transcripts [The 
Solomon Critique: K1-D.E. 225 + The Solomon Critique 2: K1-D.E. 299], corruption 
of public officials, racketeering, mail fraud, wire fraud, new evidence and 
obstruction of justice. The evidence necessary to prove these elements, as is 
articulated in the BRIEF, did not become available to Dr. Kaul until recently." 

February 2, 2018 - Sica v Kaul: ESX-L-7412-12: K8 - Kaul motion for summary 
judgment/dismissal of Plaintiff's Amended Complaint: 
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Kaul, cognizant of the facts that Defendant Brown had no qualified experts and the case 
was filed after the statute of limitations, filed a motion to have the case dismissed: 

" ... either suspend or revoke Kaul's medical license ... based on the fraudulent 
opinions of neurosurgeons, Gregory Przybylski, MD, and interventional pain 
physician, Andrew Kaufman, MD, that Kaul had allegedly deviated from the 
standard of care because he did not possess training or board certification, in 
either orthopedics or neurosurgery. These two individuals also opined, with 
knowing falsity that the care Kaul delivered to certain patients allegedly deviated 
from the standard of care." 

"Here, summary judgment is appropriate for the reasons articulated below. There 
are no genuine issues of material fact regarding the admitted lack of any 
generally accepted standard in the field of minimally invasive spine surgery, and 
the fact that the Plaintiff's experts pursuant to Edward Nicholas v Christopher 
Mynster (NJ Supreme Court - April 25, 2013) are not qualified to opine regarding 
the standard (even if one existed, which it does not) for minimally invasive spine 
surgery." 

The state court denied Kaul's motion, as it was in collusion/conspiracy with The Kaul 
Cases Defendants, which include the State of New Jersey. By 2018, Judge Scoca had 
removed herself from the case, recognizing the criminal liability of the matter, and was 
replaced by Judge Jeffrey Beacham, a jurist who used the bench to perpetuate the 
Defendants' crimes. 

May 18, 2018- Sica v Kaul: ESX-L-7412-12: K8- Court Order re: scheduling of trial: 

Long-time NJ state court judge, Dennis Carey, entered a trial-date order despite 
knowing that the revocation of Kaul's license was illegal, and with the intent of 
permitting Defendant Brown to introduce the revocation into evidence, in order to 
prejudice the jury and secure a judgment against Kaul. Defendant Brown had already 
received monies from the Bergen Passaic Surgical Center. Carey permitted his court to 
be corrupted by the Defendants. 

June 18, 2018 - Sica v Kaul: ESX-L-7412-12: K8 - Letter from Kaul to Defendant 
Murphy re: Professional Liability+ Fraud: 

Kaul, recognizing that Defendant Murphy has committed a 'Fraud on the Court' and 
forewarned him of his liability. As a consequence of the letter, Defendant Murphy 
withdrew from the case. 

"The evidence in Kaul v Christie proves that the conspiracy that caused the 
revocation of my license of my license was conducted over a protracted period, 
involved multiple parties in different states, and schemes in which patients were 
encouraged by orthopedic surgeons and neurosurgeons to file frivolous lawsuits 
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against me. If evidence emerges, as the federal case proceeds, that you were part 
of this conspiracy, then your name and that of your practice, will be added to the 
list of defendants." 

"This case is frivolous and is a direct consequence of the professional jealousy 
and political corruption that caused the illegal revocation of my license. Kaul v 
Christie is a case with conclusive evidence, that I firmly believe will be successful 
... move to have disciplinary proceedings instituted against the 'experts' involved 
in these cases, of which you were one." 

June 27, 2018- Sica v Kaul: ESX-L-7412-12: K8- Letter from Kaul to Marna P. 
Bergstrom, CEO, Yale New Haven Health System re: Fraud Complaint against Michael 
Murphy, MD: 

Kaul noticed the Yale New Haven Health System, one that conducts healthcare 
business with Defendant Murphy, of its vicarious liability. 

"Murphy's knowingly fraudulent 'expert' testimony caused a number of these 
frivolous cases to be settled by my insurance carrier, with whom I have filed a 
complaint regarding the fraud and perjury committed by Murphy, the patient[s] 
and their lawyers." 

"Murphy continues his misconduct to this day, despite having been forewarned 
of its serious consequences." 

July 23, 2018 - Sica v Kaul: ESX-L-7 412-12: K8 - Letter from Kaul to NJ state court 
judge, Dennis Carey, Ill re: adjournment of trial: 

Kaul, having procured an expert in the field of minimally invasive spine surgery, did 
inform the Essex County Court and Defendant Brown, with a request for an 
adjournment of the trial. 

" ... I sent Plaintiff's counsel an email that informed him that I would be submitting 
a letter on Monday July 23, 2018 ... I have received no response." 

July 271 2018 - Sica v Kaul: ESX-L-7412-12: K8- Court Order re: scheduling of trial: 

The court, corrupted by the Defendants, and in seeking to have expedited a judgment 
against Kaul, did adjourn the trial by only four weeks, in full knowledge that Sica had not 
been produced for discovery and it would be impossible for Kaul to prepare for trial. 

64. LAURA MCLEAN: 

laura Mclean v Richard Kaul. MD et al: ESX-l-802-14 
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Lawyer/Law Firm - Bendit Weinstock/Lomurro Law/Abbott Brown: Judge/Court - NJ 
Superior Court, Essex County: Physician - Michael Murphy, MD: Amount of insurance 
fraud - Approximately $1 million (Kaul/New Jersey Spine and Rehabilitation Surgical 
Center) 

March 30, 2012 - Lumbar lnterbody Spinal Fusion: 

The clinical evidence substantiated the need for surgery. 

"The patient is a female in her 50s who was initially consulted on April 3, 2012 
having sustained injuries to her cervical and lumbosacral spine." 

April 10, 2012 - Consultation: 

The follow-up note indicated that the surgery had improved the patient's condition. 

"The patient ... is doing very well with an improvement of symptomatology in the 
lower back and the legs ... The patient is making excellent progress in the 
postsurgical phase." 

In 2014, Defendant Brown submitted a knowingly false legal instrument into a corrupted 
state court, purposed to defraud Kaul's medical malpractice carrier. 

In early 2017, Kaul made oral argument in front of Judge Annette Scoca in support of 
his motion to vacate a default judgment. Defendant Brown's associate, Matthew 
Schiappa was present with his client, Laura McLean. The latter individual briskly walked 
into the courtroom and upon the judge entering, she did rapidly move from the sitting to 
the standing to the sitting position. It was at this hearing that Kaul informed Judge 
Scoca of the falsification of the opinion (December 13, 2013) of The Kaul Cases 
Defendant/NJ OAL Judge, Jay Howard Solomon. Judge Scoca appeared to be shocked 
and asked Kaul: "Do you have evidence?" to which Kaul responded "Yes". Schiappa, 
despite knowing that of The Kaul Cases Defendants crimes, characterized as 
"specious" this irrefutable fact, that of evidence tampering. 

65. FRANCES KUREN: 

Frances Kuren v Richard Kaul, MD et al: BER-L-2867-11 

Lawyer/Law Firm - John Hoyt/Hoyt + Hoyt: Judge/Court - NJ Superior Court: Bergen 
County: Physicians - Defendant Kaufman/The Kaul Cases Defendant, Gregory 
Przybylski, MD: Amount of insurance fraud - Approximately $2 million (Kaul/Bergen 
Passaic Surgery Center) 

April 4, 2008 - Initial Consultation: 

Kaul documented Kuren's severe pain/disability at the initial consultation. 
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" ... the patient has continued to experience back and leg symptomatology, which 
is most likely attributable to ongoing intervertebral and lumbar facet pathology." 

August 8, 2008 - Follow-Up Consultation: 

Kaul's surgery caused a diminution in Kuren's pain/disability. 

"The patient comes in today after having undergone a revision of lumbar 
interbody fusion ... the patient seemed to be doing very well ... patient seems 
very happy with the outcome of the surgery ... " 

In 2006 Kuren was operated on by orthopedic spine surgeon Arash Emami, whose 
fusion surgery failed and caused nerve damage that resulted in Kuren developir;,g a foot 
drop/persistent pain. Kaul was revising this failed operation. Emami was recruited by 
Defendant Hafner to testify against Kaul in the administrative proceedings (April 9 to 
June 28, 2013) that resulted in the illegal revocation of his license (March 24, 2014). 

October 27, 2010 - Malpractice Claim Filed: 

Kuren was encouraged by The Kaul Cases Defendant, Robert Heary, MD 
(neurosurgeon) to file a complaint/lawsuit against Kaul with The Kaul Cases Defendant, 
NJBME, and in the NJ Superior Court. Kuren's lawyer submitted a knowingly false legal 
instrument that defrauded the medical malpractice carriers of Kaul/Bergen Passaic 
Surgical Center of almost $2 million. 

"In or about 2008 defendants rendered medical care to plaintiff. The medical care 
rendered by defendants fell below accepted standards of medical care and 
deviated from the accepted standards of care. As a direct and proximate result of 
such deviations, plaintiff was severely injured, was caused to expend great sums 
to remedy her resultant medical conditions and remains severely injured and 
damaged." 

Kaul obtained surveillance footage of Kuren that showed her conducting activities 
she/her lawyer had falsely claimed Kaul's surgery had prevented her from doing so. On 
September 17, 2009, Cheryl Schwartz, an acquaintance of Kuren/patient of Kaul 
submitted a letter to The Kaul Cases Defendant, NJBME, who had commenced an 
investigation of Kaul ordered by Defendant Christie, who had received bribes from, 
amongst others, The Kaul Cases Defendant Heary and The Kaul Cases Defendant, 
Congress of Neurological Surgeons, all purposed to eliminate Kaul from the American 
minimally invasive spine surgery market, in order to illegally monopolize it, along with 
The Kaul Cases Defendants, Atlantic Health System/University Hospital. 

January 15, 2013 - Kuren v Kaul: BER-L-2867-11 - K8: Letter from Juliana Barno 
Spitzer. Esq to Kaul re: K1/K2/K5/K11-2 Defendant Heary obstruction of justice: 
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"This issue was raised with Judge Slomenski ... regarding Dr. Harry so the Court 
can enter an Order compelling Dr. Heary to appear at the courthouse for his 
deposition or a Bench Warrant will be issued for his arrest." 

Defendant Heary, after having conspired with Kuren and many of The Kaul Cases 
Defendants to have Kaul's license revoked and have initiated schemes to recruit Kaul's 
patients to sue him, did then conspire with politicians/lawyers/judges to obstruct justice 
and further violate Kaul's constitutionally protected right to due process, while having 
adopted the color of state, consequent to a "symbiotic" relationship with state actors. 

In a period from late 2012 to the present, Defendant Heary, in collusion/conspiracy with 
the NJ state government and medical board/administrative/state/bankruptcy/federal 
courts within the geographic boundaries of New Jersey has evaded justice. 

In June 2013, Kaul served Defendant Heary with a subpoena to testify in the NJ OAL, 
but he failed to appear (June 27, 2013) and The Kaul Cases Defendant Solomon 
refused to enter an order compelling him to appear and then promptly closed the case 
on June 28, 2013. 

In 2020, in K5, Defendant Heary conspired with K11-1 Defendant/Senator Cory Booker 
to have the United States District Court for the District of Columbia enter an order that 
prevented Kaul from prosecuting Heary. 

On March 3, 2021, The Kaul Cases Defendants filed a motion in K5 in the United 
States District Court for the District of New Jersey-Newark (Defendant in K11-1) in front 
of U.S.D.J. Vazquez (Defendant in K11-3) that seeks to have an order entered that 
absolves the Defendants of their legal obligation to respond to claims filed by Kaul in 
other courts of the United States District Court. 

The Kaul Cases Defendants are defenseless and guilty of the levied charges. The 
testimony of any one of The Kaul Cases Defendants/their co-conspirators/Third Party 
Witnesses, will irrefutably prove their guilt to a criminal standard. 

March 22, 2013 - Kuren v Kaul: BER-L-2867-11 - K8: Letter from Juliana Barno Spitzer, 
Esq to Kaul re: arrest warrant for K 1 /K2/K5/K 11-2 Defendant Heary: 

Defendant Heary, after having conspired with Kuren to have Kaul's license revoked, 
obstructed/ignored court orders for his deposition. Kaul, having become aware that 
Defendant Heary was central to the conspiracy, moved to have him arrested/deposed: 

"After the arrest, the court will then set a date for Dr. Heary's testimony." 

Defendant Heary's state lawyer produced him for deposition in late 2013, after the 
conclusion of the hearing in the NJ OAL (April 9 to June 28, 2013), but before 
K2/K5/K11-2 Defendant/NJ OAL Judge Jay Howard Solomon rendered his fraudulent 
opinion (December 13, 2013). Kaul attended the deposition with his lawyer, who had 
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retained a court videographer. Kuren's lawyer, John Hoyt, became very agitated about 
the filming and screamed: 

"This is not Dr. Kaul's fucking deposition" 

Defendant Heary appeared extremely anxious, and Hoyt demanded the videographer 
be removed. He then began his examination of Defendant Heary, who testified that 
Kaul's use of unilateral facet screws was within the standard of care, a statement that 
contradicted/undermined the testimony/reports (April 2, 2012 to June 28, 2013-BDS-
08959-12) provided by K1/K2/K5/K11-2 Defendant/neurosurgeon, Gregory Przybylski, 
MD that Kaul's placement of unilateral facet screws allegedly constituted a "gross 
deviation" from the standard of care. This fraudulent testimony was incorporated by 
Defendant Solomon into his knowingly illegal order to revoke Kaul's license. 

On March 22, 2013, Kaul filed a lawsuit (BER-L-2256-13) against: (i) Robert Heary, MD 
(neurosurgeon); (ii) William Mitchell, MD (neurosurgeon); (iii) Frank Moore, MD 
(neurosurgeon); (iv) Gregory Przybylski, MD (neurosurgeon): (v) Peter Carmel, MD 
(neurosurgeon), the thrust of which pertained to a massive conspiracy to illegally 
eliminate Kaul. 

The case was dismissed on November 15, 2013 for lack of prosecution as Kaul's then 
lawyer, John Whipple, unexpectedly withdrew from the case and Kaul was unable to 
find another lawyer willing to litigate the matter. In retrospect it would have made no 
difference as Defendant Christie had converted the judicial arms of the State of New 
Jersey into a "racketeering enterprise", that he exploited in furtherance of his political 
ambitions. Defendant Christie's "pattern of racketeering" within state/federal 
investigative/prosecutorial agencies commenced in the late 1990s and involved an 
abuse of power in which he entrapped his political opponents in sting operations that he 
used to extort money/political favors under threat of incarceration. Democratic politician, 
Lou Manzo, was one such individual. In 2014 he published a book entitled: "Ruthless 
Ambition: The Rise and Fall of Chris Christie". An article published on April 27, 2014 
in the Hudson Reporter, states: 

"From the beginning, Manzo's legal team contended that the charges were part of 
a conspiracy by some members of the U.S. Attorney's office to get Gov. 
Christopher Christie elected governor, something Christie's office denies. The 
Republican governor had been the U.S. Attorney in New Jersey at the launch of 
the investigation, and many of the people who were involved with it have moved 
on to work under him when he was elected governor in November 2009. Almost 
all of the politicians arrested in the sting were Democrats." 

In a period from late 2012 to 2013, Defendant Christie perpetrated the RICO predicate 
act of the trafficking of chemical weapons to Syrian rebel forces, in violation of NJ state 
law/US federal law/international law (Rome Treaty). On October 15, 2020, Defendant 
Christie admitted to knowing that these agents would be, and were used, to murder in 
the most horrific manner innocent children/women/men in the 2011 Syrian civil war. On 
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November 11, 2015, the International Criminal Court in The Hague became aware of 
these crimes, and in a seemingly unrelated factual matter, it extended its jurisdiction to 
investigate war crimes committed by the State of Israel against Palestinians. That 
jurisdiction, as its international mandate authorizes, extends to persons who have 
committed crimes against humanity in signatory states, of which Jordan is one. The Port 
of Aqaba in Jordan was the entry point of the chemical weapon components. On April 
28, 2013 in the London Independent, its chief Middle East correspondent, Robert Fisk 
stated: 

"And if we mention Saddam's chemical weapons, there's another glitch: because 
the components of these vile weapons were manufactured by a factory in New 
Jersey and sent to Baghdad by the US." 

On October 16, 2017, Kaul sent a letter to NJ Governor candidate, Phillip Murphy, that 
requested he have Defendant Christie investigated if he were to become Governor. In 
the letter Kaul states: 

"I will continue to pursue and publicize this issue until I find the truth, and as 
suggested in the letter from the ICC, I intend on contacting international 
authorities to have the matter independently investigated. I hope that if you 
become the Governor, you will employ state resources to ascertain the culpability 
of the named offenders. These heinous crimes must not go unpunished, and I will 
not rest till those responsible are brought to justice." 

Murphy has not investigated these crimes. 

66. MARIETTA ERNST: 

Marietta Ernst v Richard Kaul et al: OCN-L-2256-12: 

Lawyer/Law Firm - WEISS & PAARZ: Pamela Brown Jones: Judge/Court - NJ Superior 
Court, Ocean County: Physician - Defendant Murphy: Amount of insurance fraud -
Approximately $500,000 (Kaul/New Jersey Spine and Rehabilitation Surgical Center) 

August 17, 2010 - Lumbar lnterbody Spinal Fusion 

Kaul noted the clinical evidence in support of his recommendation for a minimally 
invasive lumbar fusion, to which Ernst consented. 

"The patient was seen at consult on October 20, 2009. The patient has been 
evaluated and has persistent low back and leg pain which has not improved with 
conservative treatment." 

July 5, 2011 - Consultation: 

Ernst improved after the successful surgery. 
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"The patient comes in today after having last been seen on 05/30/2011 at which 
time the patient was doing very well status post lumbar interbody fusion at the 
l3-4 level." 

Ernst gave a video testimonial in which she stated: 

(2) Dr. Kaul - YouTube 

"My life now feels complete because I can do whatever I want to do." 

July 23, 2012 - Malpractice claim filed: 

Ernst, having been recruited by Defendant Hafner, was referred to a so called 'politically 
connected' law firm, that then used the US mail/wires to transmit a knowingly fraudulent 
legal instrument, that was submitted into the apparatus of the American legal system, 
an act that constitutes a 'Fraud on the Court' and an ongoing "racketeering injury" to 
Kaul. This fraudulent judgment, as with every other, was reported to the National 
Practitioners Data Bank and is cited in the May 27, 2020 opinion issued by the State of 
Pennsylvania. (the order/opinion is published on a state issued document, that is now in 
the public domain). Kaul's malpractice carrier was defrauded consequent to a massive 
"racketeering" scheme orchestrated by Defendant Christie and perpetrated through 
the State of New Jersey, in collusion/conspiracy with The Kaul Cases Defendants. 

"Defendants Kaul, lager, Datta and Shahid were negligent in their care and 
treatment of the plaintiff and or deviated from the applicable standards of care 
during the time each provided care to the plaintiff ... The above said deviations 
and negligence by defendants Kaul, lager, Datta and Shahid were a proximate 
cause of severe and permanent neurological and physical damage to plaintiff, 
and/or substantially increased her risk of same, as well as causing her to incur 
losses, damages and expenses with respect thereto." 

67. PATRICIA MAZE: 

Patricia Maze v Richard Kaul et al: ESX-l-10253-10 

Lawyer/Law Firm - John Hoyt/Hoyt + Hoyt: Judge/Court - NJ Superior Court: Essex 
Physician - Defendant Kaufman/The Kaul Cases Defendant Przybylski: Amount of 
insurance fraud - approximately $2 million (Kaul/Bergen Passaic Surgical Center) 

November 21, 2008 - Lumbar lnterbody Spinal Fusion: 

Kaul identified the clinical evidence on which his treatment plan was based. 

"The patient was initially consulted on 11/08/2007. At that time, she was a 44-year­
old female ... continued to experience back and leg symptomatology and at her 
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initial consult had positive neurological and musculoskeletal findings which 
supported the recommendation for the lumbar discogram." 

January 81 2009 - Consultation: 

Maze improved after Kaul had performed a minimally invasive lumbar fusion. 

" .. has been significant improvement in her lower back and leg symptomatology 
and that she seems to be making a significant improvement in her condition." 

December 14, 2010 - Malpractice claim filed: 

Maze, a friend of Kuren, was similarly encouraged by Kaul's competitors to file a 
knowingly fraudulent lawsuit and submit a complaint to The Kaul Cases Defendant, 
NJBME. Maze, as with Kuren, was told by her lawyer, that the State of New Jersey/NJ 
AG were planning to revoke Kaul's license, and that he would not be in a position to 
contest the claims, a claim from which she knew she would illegally defraud Kaul's 
medical malpractice carrier. 

"As a direct and proximate result of such deviations, plaintiff was severely 
injured, was caused to expend great sums to remedy her resultant medical 
conditions and remains severely injured and damaged." 

Maze and her lawyer became unjustly enriched in late 2013/early 2014 . 

. Fraudulent claim by State of New Jersey/Defendants NJBME/Hafner/Kaufman and 
The Kaul Cases Defendant, Gregory Przybylski/Jay Howard Solomon re: Kaul lack 

of qualifications to perform minimally invasive spine surgery: 

68. STATE OF NEW JERSEYv RICHARD ARJUN KAUL: BDS-08959-2012: 

March 25, 2012 - Letter from Defendant Kaufman to K2/K5/K11-2 Defendant Hafner re: 
standard of care: 

In approximately 2006, Defendant Kaufman commenced conspiring with The Kaul 
Cases Defendants to have Kaul's license revoked and attempt to eliminate him from the 
practice of medicine, for no reason other than professional jealousy, and did, on March 
25, 2012, use the US mail/wires to submit a knowingly fraudulent report to Defendant 
Hafner. 

In the report, Defendant Kaufman did falsely state: 

" ... in performing total discectomies as well as fusions with the use of pedicle 
screws in both the lumbar spine and cervical spine has overstepped the bounds 
of lnterventional Pain Management and as such has put patients at great risk. 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY 

RICHARD ARJUN KAUL, MD CIVIL ACTION NO. 2:16-cv-02364-KM-SCM 

Plaintiff, 

v. CERTIFICATION OF JOHN ZERBINI 

CHRISTOPHER J. CHRISTIE, ESQ, et al., 

Defendants 

Richard Arjun Kaul, MD 
Propria Persona 
120 Temple Terrace 
Palisades Park, NJ 07650 
201989 2299 

John Zerbini hereby certifies to the Court as follows: 

1. I am forty-three {43) years old, a United States citizen and was a patient of Dr. Kaul from 

November 24, 2010 to July 21, 2011. 

2. I make this statement in support of the claims that Dr. Richard Arjun Kaul has filed 

against the Defendants in the above matter. 

3. In late July 2017 I spoke with Dr. Richard Kaul several times regarding various issues that 

pertain to the above matter. The following represents the essence of what was 

discussed. The information contained in this statement is a representation of the 

conversations that took place between March 2012 to late 2013, between myself, Dr. 

Kaufman and Deputy Attorney General, Doreen Hafner. Where the conversation is 

quoted verbatim it is marked in "". I have examined this record and signed it as 
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representative of what was said in the conversations. I have organized the conversations 

into 5 sections for ease of interpretation: 

(a) Report of conversations between Dr. Kaufman and myself 

I had several conversations with Dr. Kaufman in which he expressed his opinion of Dr. Kaul and 

also his intention to destroy Dr. Kaul's medical career. Dr. Kaufman frequently directed these 

opinions to me, in front of the nurses who assisted him and usually after he had performed 

procedures on my spine. 

Dr. Kaufman was not interested in the care I had received from Dr. Kaul, but was more 

preoccupied with how he was planning to have Dr. Kaul's license revoked. It was obvious to me 

that he had no concern for my welfare, as all of the time we spent together from March 2012 to 

November 2012, he devoted to telling me and others how he was going to destroy Dr. Kaul. It 

was, to say the least, extremely unprofessional and rather disturbing. 

These conversations occurred mainly in a curtained consulting room in the pain management 

lab, at Overlook Hospital New Jersey. The curtains of my cubicle were not always drawn, and 

the area was an open space, in which at any one time, there were a least fourteen other 

people, comprised of patients and staff. I would always sit in a cardiac chair, and Dr. Kaufman's 

comments were loud enough for all patients and nurses to have clearly heard what was being 

said. 

Dr. Kaufman 'ranted' about Dr. Kaul, on numerous occasions. I felt that Dr. Kaufman was 

bragging about his actions towards Dr. Kaul. He made it clear that he had instigated 

proceedings against Dr. Kaul and said that he and "a few other doctors" were going after Dr. 

Kaul. I was not aware of the names of the other doctors. 

The first time that Dr. Kaufman discussed these things with me was in April 2012. 

Dr. Kaufman seemed to have some kind of vendetta against Dr. Kaul, and made comments to 

the effect that he was going to destroy Dr. Kaul's medical career, his reputation, and make sure 

he never worked again as a doctor. He stated that he was going to make sure Dr. Kaul was 

ostracized, and that he and a group of five other doctors had been working together since at 

least 2011, to make sure Dr. Kaul's medical license was revoked. He mentioned that they were 
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' .. 

going to have articles and stories published, that caused permanent damage to Dr. Kaul's 

reputation, so that he would never be able to find work. Dr. Kaufman told me, "Dr. Kaul is a 

criminal", and that he [Kaufman] had instigated the plan to have Dr. Kaul's license revoked. His 

venomous conduct led me to believe that that he would not stop until he had achieved those 

ends. 

I recall that Kaufman said that he had found something about Dr. Kaul that really pissed him off 

which is why he acted in this way. Kaufman said, "Dr. Kaul has no business being a doctor" and 

"he has no business practicing medicine". He told me that he would make sure Dr. Kaul never 

practiced medicine again. 

During my conversations with Dr. Kaull told him that I could not understand why Dr. Kaufman 

had such hatred towards him. I had never witnessed such venom, and he [Kaufman] seemed to 

have the small man angry syndrome. Kaufman is about five foot six inches, and one hundred 

and forty pounds. 

Dr. Kaufman ranted about Dr. Kaul, in this way, at about two thirds of our consultations. I 

consulted with Dr. Kaufman every six weeks over period of one year, from March 2012 to late 

2012. 

The comments that Kaufman made about Dr. Kaul were made directly to me, and frequently in 

the presence of other staff and patients. My recollection of these comments was so vivid that I 

even remember the clothes I was wearing at each consultation, and on one occasion it involved 

a particularly bright stripped collared shirt. 

In my opinion there was clear evidence for defamation of character, as when Dr. Kaufman was 

ranting, there were approximately 14 other people within earshot. 

I told Dr. Kaul, during our conversations, that Dr. Kaufman "went after you (Dr. Kaul) like fury". 

"he was on fire." 

I recounted how, in my earlier conversations with Dr. Kaufman, he said, "Check up on this guy 

(Dr. Kaul) on the internet and you will see that I and five other doctors have already taken 

action against him". When I went home I checked the internet and found what Dr. Kaufman 

had said, as well as the name of several other doctors who were involved. 
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During one of my conversations with Dr. Kaul, I told him, "I left Kaufman but I think he would 

tell you that he left me". I described to Dr. Kaul how Dr. Kaufman would not return my calls, 

when I telephoned his office, because my pain pump was not working, and I was in severe pain. 

This happened on multiple occasions. On one occasion, as a result of not having received a 

response from Dr. Kaufman after one week, and being in severe pain, I went to see my family 

physician. I subsequently told Dr. Kaufman that I had consulted with another doctor, and 

initially he said "no problem". However, 3 months later he became angry and told me that I had 

"violated his trust" and that he would no longer treat me. He started screaming at me, and I felt 

humiliated and began to cry. I pleaded with him not to suddenly stop prescribing my 

medications, but he didn't seem to care, and became very cold and callous. This was in 

November 2012. In fact, his uncaring attitude had caused me on several prior occasions to ask 

him, with tears in my eyes, "Why do you hate me?". It seemed to me, that his hostility, was a 

consequence of the fact that I had been under the care of Dr. Kaul, as I noticed he had a 

different attitude with other patients. I told Dr. Kaufman that I had never been spoken to by 

any of my treating physicians, in the derogatory manner in which he publicly berated me. 

After having been abandoned by Dr. Kaufman, I attempted to find another physician to manage 

my pain. However, it proved very difficult, because of the complicated nature of my medical 

conditions. However, Kaufman threatened to contact my internal medicine doctor, and any 

future pain management doctor, and tell them I had violated an agreement with him. Dr. 

Kaufman would then call me and berate me on the phone for "violating his trust". I eventually 

went to see Dr. Sukdeb Datta. 

(b) My comments regarding my perception of the relationship between Dr. Kaufman and 
Deputy Attorney General, Doreen Hafner 

During my conversation with Dr. Kaull commented that "he [Kaufman] was "very chummy with 

that prosecutor". I observed that Dr. Kaufman's relationship with Doreen Hafner was "weirdly 

close" and that "it was really weird, moochy coochy, strange." I noted that Dr. Kaufman called 

the Deputy Attorney General by her first name, and on one occasion he told me that was 

meeting her for lunch. I observed that Dr. Kaufman was oddly "chummy" with Hafner, in a 

manner that seemed strange for a physician and deputy attorney general. 
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. 
c 

(c) My recollections of my meetings with Doreen Hafner 

I recollect Dr. Kaufman saying on several occasions, "I'm going to see her [Hafner]later today or 

to have lunch with her". 

I recollect at my first meeting with Hafner, she had two female investigators with her. The 

meeting occurred at my attorney's office. They inspected my back and how well I was able to 

walk. After this first meeting, Hafner contacted me directly, and our communications from that 

point did not involve my attorney. She told me in the first interview that "they were going to 

take make sure that we who were hurt will be taken care of". However, Hafner honored none 

of the promises she made, and after I testified took no further interest in my welfare. Both my 

wife and I felt that she exploited me, and lied to me to get me to testify against Dr. Kaul. 

I believe that Hafner told me that Dr. Kaul had a "$14 million condo in New York", and that she 

said she was going to take it. She told me Dr. Kaul had two Aston Martins, and that she was 

going to take them as well. 

Hafner stated that Dr. Kaul had committed Medicaid and Medicare fraud, and asked me what 

insurance company had paid him for the procedure he performed on me. I told her that I had 

no insurance, and that Dr. Kaul had provided his services and that of his facility for free. I told 

her that he never asked me for a dime. I also told her that he had been able to get the device 

company, Medtronic, to provide the spinal cord stimulator free of charge. I asked Hafner that if 

Dr. Kaul had committed the crime she described, whether his passport had been confiscated. 

She responded, "I can't comment on that". I thought it was bizarre that Hafner was readily 

telling me about crimes Dr. Kaul was supposed to have committed, but then refused to answer 

a simple question about the information she so willingly divulged. I believe she was trying to 

manipulate and exploit me, in order to have me testify against Dr. Kaul. 

I believe that Hafner went into great detail about a case in London that occurred in 1999, in 

which a patient suffered a cardiac arrest at the end of a dental procedure. She told me that Dr. 

Kaul fled the country before the authorities had completed their investigation, and had been a 

fugitive. I asked her that if this was the case, then why had he not been extradited back to 
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: 

England. Again, her response was, "I can't comment on that", which I found to be as equally 

bizarre as her previous response. I asked her again why they had not confiscated his passport, 

and she once again responded with, "I can't comment on that". At this point in the proceedings, 

we communicated directly, without any involvement from my attorney, and Hafner would 

contact me directly. The things that Hafner was telling me about Dr. Kaul did not make any 

sense. I said to her, "If he is a criminal here from England and still on the streets, why wouldn't 

you arrest him?". Again her response was, "I can't comment on that". 

I believe it was Hafner who told me that Dr. Kaul had been paid $300,000 by Medtronic to find 

volunteers, for the use of spinal cord stimulators in the treatment of angina. This, as I found out 

from Dr. Kaul during one of our conversations, was a lie. I explained to Hafner that I could not 

believe Dr. Kaul had committed Medicare fraud. I told her that he used his own money to 

establish a charity that helped people in Africa, and she told me that the charity was just a 

front, and that Dr. Kaul was "trying to line his pockets". 

I believe that Hafner lied to me about Dr. Kaul, and about wanting to help me with my lawsuit, 

to make sure that I testified against Dr. Kaul. She told me that if I testified against Dr. Kaul, it 

would help me with my lawsuit, "especially if Dr. Kaul had been stripped of his license to 

practice medicine". Hafner also told me that because Dr. Kaufman was a pain management 

expert for the state, it would help my case. I feel that Hafner exploited my situation to serve her 

own purpose, which was to take away Dr. Kaul's livelihood, and destroy his reputation. 

(d) My opinion regarding the professional competence of Dr. Kaufman 

My opinion of Dr. Kaufman is that he is an extremely unprofessional individual, a terrible 

doctor, and a man that seems to have nothing but hatred in his heart. He could not contain his 

anger towards Dr. Kaul, and I have never witnessed the outrageous public displays of 

unprofessionalism, that I had the misfortune to do so, with him. On one occasion he became so 

angry, his face turned red. I told Dr. Kaul, "He [Dr. Kaufman] screwed me up so badly that I 

wanted to sue him". Dr. Kaufman had installed a pain pump which did not work, and despite 

me repeatedly telling him that I was not getting any pain relief, he kept telling me the pump 

was working. He did not know to program the pump, and always had a representative from 
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Medtronic to do it for him. On a number of occasions, he had to stab me thirteen times in the 

stomach to find the entry point in the pump. He did this to me without any local anesthesia, 

which was extremely painful. He never checked to see if there were any blockages in the 

catheter in my spine. The pain kept on increasing, and Dr. Kaufman did nothing, and never 

returned my calls. When I did see him the only thing he did was to increase the infusion rate of 

the medication, which did not reduce the pain. Eventually I went to another doctor, who used 

fluoroscopy and intravenous hydration, and was able to diagnose that the catheter tip was 

crushed. This was the reason that the medication was not getting into my spine. Dr. Kaufman 

failed to perform this simple test, which caused me to remain in agony from May 2012 to 

August 2013, at which point the intrathecal pump was re-inserted by another physician. I told 

Dr. Kaul that Dr. Kaufman, "thinks he is hot shit but he didn't ever check what was wrong". 

Throughout the months of excruciating pain, Dr. Kaufman was very bad at responding to my 

calls, and on multiple occasions, because the pain was so severe, I was rushed to Overlook 

Hospital. I was experiencing such extreme pain and was shaking uncontrollably, with profuse 

sweating, all of which exacerbated my angina. I thought I was going to have a stroke or massive 

heart attack, as I was already in heart failure. When I was admitted to the hospital on each 

occasion, the staff were unable to contact Dr. Kaufman for several days. These was the 

episodes that caused me to find another doctor. 

(e) Comments made by Dr. Kaufman regarding Dr. Kaul, during the hearing in the office of 
administrative law, in April 2013. 

On or about April17, 2013 I testified against Dr. Kaul in the proceedings in the office of 

administrative law. I was driven to the hearing by an armed female agent from the Attorney 

General's office, who made sure her badge was exposed. While I was sitting outside the hearing 

room, with the 'special' agent, who did not leave my side for one moment, Dr. Kaufman came 

out of the hearing room. He looked very agitated and made the following comments: 

(1) "Kaul is sitting there, pretending he cannot afford to hire an attorney" 

(2) "Kaul is wearing a suit that is worn out with trousers that are frayed at the bottom as if 

he is poor and no money to buy a decent suit". 
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(3) "Kaul is trying to pretend that he has no money" 

The 'special' agent and the court security guard heard Kaufman's outburst. 

I feel like I was exploited by Doreen Hafner and Dr. Kaufman, with lies that were intended to 

have me testify against Dr. Kaul. My clinical care with Dr. Kaufman was terrible, and he is a 

despicable human being. 

I support Dr. Kaul in his quest for justice, and I hope, as do many of his patients, that he returns 

to the practice of medicine, and that those who caused him harm are severely punished. 

I hereby certify that the foregoing statements made by me are true. I am aware that if any of 

the foregoing statements made by me are willfully false, I am subject to punishment 

Dated: August 6, 2017 
John Zerbini 
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